

JAGELLONIAN UNIVERSITY IN KRAKOW

Małopolska Centre of Biotechnology

Risk evaluation of neurodevelopmental disorders in offspring conceived by Assisted Reproduction Technologies.

Simona Bisogno, M.Sc

Supervisor: Prof. dr hab. Grazyna Ptak

Co-supervisor: Dr Maria Florencia Heber

Developmental Biology Laboratory, Małopolska Centre of Biotechnology -Jagiellonian University

Krakow 2023

Contents

Abstract - 1

Abbreviations - 7

List of figures - 9

1. INTRODUCTION

- 1.1 Assisted Reproductive Technology (ART) 11
 - 1.1.1 ART implications on offspring health 12
 - 1.1.2 Risk of neurodevelopmental disorders in ART-conceived offspring 14
- 1.2 Brain development 15
 - 1.2.1 Role of lipids in brain development 17
 - 1.2.2 Role of lipid peroxidation and oxidative stress in brain development 19

1.3 Brain structures - 21

- 1.3.1 Hippocampus: development, structure, and function 22
- 1.3.2 Role of Hippocampus in NND 24
- 1.3.3 Hypothalamus: development, structure, and function 25
- 1.3.4 Role of Hypothalamus in NND 26
- 1.4 Mus Musculus as a model for neurodevelopmental disorders 26
 1.4.1 Impact of sex on mouse behaviour 27

2. METHODS

- 2.1 Animals 29
- 2.2 Embryo collection and culture 29
- 2.3 Embryo transfer 29
- 2.4 Behavioural testing 30
 - 2.4.1 Three Chamber Social recognition test 30
 - 2.4.2 Light/Dark Box 31
- 2.5 Animals- II generation 31
- 2.6 Brain collection 32
- 2.7 Prenatal collection at 19.5 dpc -33
- 2.8 Histology- prenatal brain 33
- 2.9 ELISA based assay- prenatal brain and adult Hypothalamus 33
- 2.10 qPCR- prenatal brain 34
- 2.11 Liquid chromatography and tandem mass spectrometry-adult hypothalamus 34
- 2.12 Coherent anti-Stokes Raman spectroscopy- oocytes and embryos 36
- 2.13 Nile Red-Bodipy staining 37

3. RESULTS

Chapter I. Effect of in vitro culture of embryos on offspring development and behaviour

- I.I Behaviour 38
 - 1. Social recognition Three chamber social recognition test 38
 - 2. Anxiety-like behaviour -Light/Dark Box 40
- I.II General Health assessment 41
 - 1. Bodyweight 41

- 2. Offspring survival 43
- 3. Embryos survival and development to term 44
- 4. Fertility 46

Chapter II. Intergenerational transmission of ART effects and effects of crossbreeding ART progenies

II.I Survival Rate - 47

II.II Behaviour - 49

- 1. Social recognition Three chamber social recognition test 49
- 2. Anxiety-like behaviour -Light/Dark Box 51

II.III Bodyweight - 51

Chapter III. Brain alterations in ART offspring and foetuses collected at late pregnancy.

III.I Adult brain- Hypothalamus Oxidative stress - 53

III.II Adult brain- Hippocampus Proteomic - 54

III.III Adult brain- weight - 55

III.IV Prenatal brain- Oxidative stress - 55

III.V Prenatal brain- Neurogenesis - 57

III.VI Prenatal brain morphology - 58

Chapter IV. Altered lipid profile and lipid peroxidation in embryos and oocytes.

IV.I Lipid profile in embryos after IVC - 60

IV.II LDs profile of AMA oocytes and embryos - 62

4. DISCUSSION

- 4.1 Effect of *in vitro* culture of embryos on offspring development and behaviour 67
- 4.2 Intergenerational transmission of ART effects and effects of crossbreeding ART progenies

- 70

- 4.3 Brain alterations in ART offspring and foetuses collected at late pregnancy 74
- 4.4 Altered lipid profile and lipid peroxidation in ART embryos and oocytes 75

5. FINAL CONCLUSIONS -77

6. REFERENCES -79

"Risk evaluation of neurodevelopmental disorders in offspring conceived by Assisted Reproduction Technologies".

ABSTRACT

The use of Assisted Reproductive Technologies (ART) is increasing every year. More than 8 million ART babies have been born worldwide. The use of ART is frequently linked with advanced maternal age (AMA) which may ulteriorly affect the success of such obtained pregnancies. Both ART and AMA are associated with pregnancy and birth complications and higher risk of neurodevelopmental disorders (NDD) in the offspring. The origin of these disorders are not elucidated. Data linking the use of ART with development of NDD in children are discordant: some don't demonstrate any evident neurodevelopmental alterations; others strongly associate distinctive symptoms of Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) in offspring obtained by ART in both human and animal models. This dissertation hypothesises that embryo modifications caused by ART procedures are associated with an increased risk of neurodevelopmental afflictions. The general objective of this study was to verify the extent of ART induced neurodevelopmental alterations, their intergenerational transmissibility, and to determine the base of revealed neurodevelopmental traits in embryos and offspring obtained by ART using an animal model.

In the first part of the thesis, the effect of *in vitro* culture of embryos on offspring development as well as social and anxiety-like behaviour was evaluated. I proved that offspring generated by ART are characterised by decreased sociability. I also proved that pups obtained through ART are characterised by perturbed growth curves during preweaning period.

In the second part of my research, by extending the observation of ART effect to the second generation of offspring, I showed intergenerational transmission of decreased social motivation as a consequence of ART applied on fathers; and increased anxiety combined with reduced

social motivation consequent of ART applied on mothers. The level of penetrance of the observed changes differs quantitatively (offspring survival) and qualitatively (behavioural and growth perturbations) between F1 and F2. Furthermore, the level of penetrance of quantitative aberrancies was exacerbated in F2 offspring obtained following crossing ART males with ART females.

In the third part of the experiments, I investigated the possible causes of reduced sociability in ART offspring. By analysing antioxidant activity and lipid metabolism in the brains of F1 offspring at prenatal stage and adulthood, I showed that ART prenatal brain development is impaired due to increased oxidative stress, elevated lipid peroxidation and, reduced expression of genes associated with neurogenesis which might cause changes in brain functionality and connectivity. Furthermore, I found that these impairments persist until adulthood, are shown by increased oxidative stress in hypothalamus from ART offspring and altered proteome in hippocampus, highlighting altered expression of proteins involved in neurogenesis, synapsis and proteins associated with several neurological disorders.

In the fourth part of my dissertation, knowing that neurodevelopment is the first occurring during embryogenesis even before placentation, I evaluated if the lipid damage and compositional alterations in ART prenatal brains could be a consequence of alterations occurring prior to implantation, by analysing the lipid profile of ART oocytes and embryos. I showed that the lipid profile of ART embryos is altered presenting sign of peroxidation; relevantly, I found similar altered lipid profile also in AMA oocytes (mouse and human) and embryos, frequently used in ART procedures. I showed for the first time that lipid damage ART-induced in the embryos may have long-term health consequences, being the possible origin of NDD in the offspring.

This research shows that ART causes lipid modifications in embryos leading to altered prenatal and adult brain development, decreased sociability in adult offspring, and furthermore its effects are transgenerational. This study facilitates better understanding of the etiology of NDD and opens up new scientific horizons for subsequent lipidomic studies pinpointing mechanisms contributing to NDD.

Key words: Assisted Reproductive Technology, Neurodevelopmental disorders, *in vitro* culture, behaviour, mouse model.

"Ocena ryzyka zaburzeń neurorozwojowych u potomstwa poczętego za pomocą technologii wspomaganego rozrodu".

Wykorzystanie technologii wspomaganego rozrodu (ART) rośnie z każdym rokiem. Na całym świecie urodziło się ponad 8 milionów dzieci poczętych w wyniku ART. Stosowanie ART jest często związane z zaawansowanym wiekiem matki (AMA), co może mieć wpływ na powodzenie takich ciąż. Zarówno ART, jak i AMA wiążą się z powikłaniami ciążowymi i porodowymi oraz wyższym ryzykiem zaburzeń neurorozwojowych (NDD) u potomstwa. Pochodzenie tych zaburzeń nie zostało wyjaśnione. Dane łączące stosowanie ART z rozwojem NDD u dzieci są rozbieżne: część z nich nie wykazała żadnych wyraźnych zmian neurorozwojowych, inne wykazały, że ogólne zachowanie potomstwa uzyskanego za pomocą ART wykazuje charakterystyczne objawy zaburzeń ze spektrum autyzmu (ASD) w modelach ludzkich i zwierzęcych. W niniejszej pracy postawiono hipotezę, że modyfikacje zarodków spowodowane procedurami ART wiążą się ze zwiększonym ryzykiem zaburzeń neurorozwojowych. Ogólnym celem badań było zweryfikowanie zakresu zmian neurorozwojowych wywołanych ART, ich międzypokoleniowej przekazywalności oraz określenie podstawy ujawnionych cech neurorozwojowych u zarodków i potomstwa uzyskanego za pomocą ART na modelu zwierzęcym.

W pierwszej części pracy oceniono wpływ hodowli *in vitro* zarodków na rozwój potomstwa oraz ich zachowania społeczne i lękowe. Udowodniłam, że potomstwo uzyskane w wyniku ART charakteryzuje się obniżonymi interakcjami społecznymi. Udowodniłam również, że młode uzyskane za pomocą ART charakteryzują się zaburzonymi krzywymi wzrostu w okresie przedodsadzeniowym.

W drugiej części moich badań, rozszerzając obserwację efektu ART na drugie pokolenie potomstwa, wykazałam międzypokoleniową transmisję obniżonej motywacji społecznej,

będącą konsekwencją ART zastosowanego na ojcach. Podobnie, zaobserwowałam zwiększoną lękliwość połączoną z obniżoną motywacją społeczną będącą konsekwencją ART zastosowanego na matkach. Poziom penetracji obserwowanych zmian różnił się ilościowo (przeżywalność potomstwa) i jakościowo (zaburzenia zachowania i wzrostu) między F1 i F2. Co więcej, poziom penetracji aberracji ilościowych był nasilony u potomstwa F2 uzyskanego w wyniku krzyżowania samców ART z samicami ART.

W trzeciej części eksperymentów zbadałam możliwe przyczyny zmniejszonej socjalności u potomstwa ART. Analizując aktywność antyoksydacyjną i metabolizm lipidów w mózgach potomstwa F1 na etapie prenatalnym i w wieku dorosłym, wykazałam, że prenatalny rozwój mózgu ART jest upośledzony z powodu zwiększonego stresu oksydacyjnego, podwyższonej peroksydacji lipidów i zmniejszonej ekspresji genów związanych z neurogenezą, co może powodować zmiany w funkcjonalności mózgu i jego połączeniach. Co więcej, odkryłam, że upośledzenia te utrzymują się aż do wieku dorosłego, co objawia się zwiększonym stresem oksydacyjnym w podwzgórzu potomstwa ART i zmienionym proteomem w hipokampie, podkreślając zmienioną ekspresję białek zaangażowanych w neurogenezę, synapsy i białka związane z kilkoma zaburzeniami neurologicznymi.

W czwartej części mojej rozprawy doktorskiej, wiedząc, że neurorozwój jest pierwszym procesem zachodzącym podczas embriogenezy, nawet przed implantacją łożyska, oceniłam, czy uszkodzenia lipidów i zmiany składu w prenatalnych mózgach ART mogą być konsekwencją zmian zachodzących przed implantacją, analizując profil lipidowy oocytów i zarodków ART. Wykazałam, że profil lipidowy zarodków ART jest zmieniony, wykazując oznaki peroksydacji; co istotne, podobny zmieniony profil lipidowy stwierdziłam również w oocytach AMA (mysich i ludzkich) oraz zarodkach, często wykorzystywanych w procedurach ART. Po raz pierwszy wykazałam, że uszkodzenia lipidów indukowane ART w zarodkach

mogą mieć długoterminowe konsekwencje zdrowotne, będąc możliwym źródłem NDD u potomstwa.

Badania te wykazały, że ART jest związana z modyfikacją lipidów w zarodkach, prowadząc do zmienionego rozwoju mózgu w okresie prenatalnym i dorosłym, zmniejszonej socjalności u dorosłego potomstwa, a ponadto jego skutki są transgeneracyjne. Badania te pozwalają na lepsze zrozumienie etiologii NDD i otwierają nowe horyzonty naukowe dla kolejnych badań lipidomicznych wskazujących mechanizmy przyczyniające się do NDD.

Słowa kluczowe: Technologia Wspomaganego Rozrodu, zaburzenia neurorozwojowe, hodowla *in vitro*, behawior, model mysi

ABBREVIATIONS

4-HNE= 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal
ADHD= attention deficit hyperactivity disorder
AI=Artificial insemination
AMA: Advanced Maternal Age
ART: Assisted Reproductive Technology
ASD: Autism Spectrum Disorder
CARs= Coherent Anti-Stoke RAMAN spectroscopy
Cntnap2= Contactin-associated protein-like 2
Cox2= Cyclooxygenase-2
CP= Cerebral Palsy
DHA= Decosahexaenoic acid
ET: Embryo Transfer
Fgf2= Fibroblast growth factor 2
GABRA1= Gamma-amminobutyric acid receptor subunit alpha-1
GPx= Glutathione Peroxide
GSH= reduced Glutathion
GSSG=oxidised Glutathion
hCG= Human chorionic gonadotropin
HMOX1= Heme Oxigenase 1
HT= Hypothalamus
ICSI= intracytoplasmic sperm injection
ID= Intellectual disability
$I_{NP} = Index$ -Novel Preference
$I_{SP} = $ Index-Social Preference
IVC: in vitro culture
IVF= <i>in vitro</i> fertilization
LDs= Lipid Droplets
MapK3= Mitogen-activated protein kinase 3
MDA= Malondialdehyde

MO= Medulla Oblongata N= Novel stimuli NDD: Neurodevelopmental Disorders NM: Natural Mating NMDA=N-methyl-D-aspartate NN= Non-Novel stimuli NPC= Neopallial cortex NS= Non-Social stimuli NSCs= neural stem cells **OS**= Oxidative Stress PGE2= Prostaglandin E_2 PGT= Preimplantation Genetic Testing PMSG= Pregnant mare's serum gonadotropin PND: Post Natal Days PPAR- α = Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha **ROS**= Reactive Oxygene Species S: Social stimuli SOD= Superoxide Dismutase T_N = Time Novel $T_{NN} = Time Non-Novel$ $T_{NS} = Time Non-Social$ $T_S = Time Social$

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Schematic representation of ART history.

Figure 2: Experimental plan Offspring- I Generation.

Figure 3: Schematic representation of Three chamber social recognition test.

Figure 4: Schematic representation of II generation groups.

Figure 5: Sociability and novel interaction are reduced in IVC males (Three chamber social recognition test).

Figure 6: Anxiety-like behaviour is not altered in IVC offspring (Light/Dark Box test)

Figure 7: Pre-weaning growth curve and adulthood bodyweight perturbations in IVC offspring.

Figure 8: Offspring survival I generation

Figure 9: ART impacts on embryo survival and development to term.

Figure 10: Fertility is not impaired in IVC offspring-I generation.

Figure 11: II generation survival rate decreases at pre-weaning age and after weaning.

Figure 12: Social recognition memory and motivation for novelty in II generation IVC (Three-Chamber social recognition test).

Figure 13: Anxiety-like behaviour in II generation IVC (Light/dark box test).

Figure 14: Pre-weaning growth curve of II generation IVC.

Figure 15: Impaired antioxidant activity in Hypothalamus of adult IVC males – I generation

Figure 16: Pathways involved in neurodegeneration/neurodevelopmental disorders and oxidative stress are altered in IVC adult hippocampus (Proteomic).

Figure 17: Brain weight increases in adult IVC males.

Figure 18: Oxidative stress and lipid peroxidation increases in IVC prenatal brain.

Figure 19: mRNA expression of genes involved in neurogenesis are impaired in IVC prenatal brain (qPCR).

Figure 20: Altered morphology indicating inflammation in IVC prenatal brain.

Figure 21: LDs profile is altered in IVC embryos.

Figure 22: Altered lipid profile and lipid peroxidation in AMA oocytes and embryos (mouse and human model).

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Assisted Reproductive Technology (ART)

Assisted reproductive technologies (ART) refer to any treatment related to fertility in which oocytes and/or embryos undergo manipulation, as defined by the American Centers for Disease Control (CDC). ART refers to a range of medical procedures that are used to help individuals and couples achieve pregnancy. These technologies have been developed for use in both human and animal reproduction and have had significant impacts on reproductive medicine and biology.

Since 1978 when the first ART treatment was performed in humans (Steptoe and Edwards 1978), several ART procedures have achieved widespread use including ovarian stimulation, oocyte retrieval, *in vitro* maturation, fertilization via *in vitro* fertilization (IVF) or intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI), *in vitro* embryo culture, embryo transfer, Preimplantation Genetic Testing (PGT), and cryopreservation of gametes and embryos (Niederberger et al. 2018) (Fig. 1). ART methodologies have become increasingly optimised over the past few decades, with millions of babies born worldwide using these technologies showing to be effective in helping couples overcome infertility (Andersen et al. 2008).



Figure 1. Schematic representation of ART history.

In addition, ART has also been used in animals for many years, particularly in livestock breeding programs. Techniques such as Artificial Insemination (AI), embryo transfer, and *in vitro* fertilization have been used to improve the genetics of livestock and increase productivity (Hansen 2014).

1.1.1 ART implications on offspring health

Assisted Reproductive Technologies (ART) have revolutionised the treatment of infertility, enabling millions of couples worldwide to conceive children. However, there are growing concerns about the potential health implications of ART on offspring. While the success rates of ART have improved over the years, several studies have suggested that ART children may be at an increased risk of certain health problems, including low birth weight, congenital malformations, and imprinting disorders (Barberet et al. 2022; Berntsen et al. 2019; Ericson and Källén 2001; Olson et al. 2005).

ART children are more likely to be born with low birthweight than naturally-conceived children which is associated with several health problems, such as respiratory distress syndrome, neurological deficits, and increased risk of death. The higher incidence of multiple births in ART pregnancies may contribute to the increased risk of low birth weight, although the underlying mechanisms are not yet fully understood (Maheshwari et al. 2012). Moreover, there is evidence to suggest that ART children have an increased risk of congenital malformations, such as heart defects and neural tube defects, compared to naturally-conceived children (Hansen et al. 2012). Some researchers have suggested that the use of ART may affect the development of the embryo, leading to an increased risk of malformations as well as imprinting disorders. Indeed, the normal process of genomic imprinting during early embryonic development is thought to be disrupted by ART procedures, leading to a higher incidence of rare epigenetic disorders such as Beckwith-Wiedemann syndrome and Angelman

syndrome (Chang et al. 2005; Chen et al. 2015). Several other factors, such as the type of ART used, and the underlying fertility status and age of the patient(s), may also affect the health outcomes of ART children (Basso and Baird 2003; Messerlian, MacLagan, and Basso 2013).

On the other hand, other studies investigating the risk of health problems in ART children have reported that ART is generally safe and there is no higher risk of birth defects in offspring (Wise et al. 2015), imprinting disorders (Sutcliffe et al. 2023), as well as no higher risk of developmental delays (Lyall et al. 2013).

Despite ART procedures being widely applied for several decades and much research carried out, data about the potential health implications of ART on offspring remain controversial and not yet conclusive because the majority of studies are mainly based on epidemiological data and there are several limitations in their interpretation. Firstly, the field of ART is relatively new, and the number of individuals conceived through these techniques is still relatively small compared to the general population. This limited sample size is a challenge to detecting rare or long-term health outcomes accurately. Additionally, ART procedures often involve multiple confounding factors, such as various infertility causes, specific treatment protocols, and individual patient characteristics, thereby complicating the recognition of isolated ART effects. Furthermore, ethical concerns and privacy issues associated with collecting data on children conceived through ART can impede comprehensive follow-up studies. Lastly, the diversity of ART techniques utilised, and the rapid advancement of technologies further complicate the interpretation of epidemiological data. Therefore, while epidemiological studies provide valuable but limited insights, experimental studies on homogenous animal populations absent of underlying fertility issues could help in shining a light on potential health implications of ART itself.

1.1.2 Risk of neurodevelopmental disorders in ART-conceived offspring

There is a considerable concern surrounding mental health and neurodevelopmental outcomes in ART-conceived children (Hart and Norman 2013). Neurodevelopmental disorders are a group of conditions that affect the development of the nervous system and brain function. These disorders include attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), cerebral palsy (CP), intellectual disability (ID), and autism spectrum disorder (ASD). These disorders can significantly impact cognitive, social, and emotional abilities, posing unique challenges for individuals affected.

Studies have suggested that children conceived through ART may be at a higher risk of developing these disorders compared to naturally-conceived children (Liu et al. 2017; Rönö et al. 2022; Strömberg et al. 2002). Similarly, studies in mouse models indicate that ART offspring show more frequent anxiety and depression-like behaviours in comparison to naturally-conceived offspring (Qin et al. 2021a)

The underlying mechanisms for the increased risk of neurodevelopmental disorders in ARTconceived children are not yet fully understood. However, several factors have been proposed, including epigenetic changes, gene mutations, and environmental factors. Epigenetic changes refer to changes in gene expression without alterations to the underlying DNA sequence. These changes may be caused by the *in vitro* culture environment, ovarian stimulation, or the use of cryopreserved gametes and embryos (Mani et al. 2020). Gene mutations may also occur during the *in vitro* fertilisation process, leading to changes in the genetic makeup of the embryo (Barberet et al. 2022; Cannarella et al. 2022). Environmental factors such as exposure to drugs and stress during ART may also contribute to the increased risk of neurodevelopmental disorders (Mulder et al. 2002). However, some studies show contrary results and their authors deny the increased risk of neurodevelopmental disorders (such as communication disorder or ASD) in ART-conceived children and moreover in ART-conceived children from advanced aged mothers (Ackerman et al. 2014; Kamowski-Shakibai, Kollia, and Magaldi 2017).

It seems evident that it is yet to be conclusively determined if the use of ART increases the risk of neurodevelopmental disorders in the offspring, and, if so, what are the underlying origins of these disorders.

1.2 Brain development

In the realm of neurodevelopmental disorders (NDD), the brain takes centre stage, as these conditions arise from atypical brain development or functioning. Understanding the role of the brain and its involvement in NDDs is crucial for unravelling the mysteries surrounding their origins, improving diagnosis and treatment strategies, and ultimately enhancing the lives of those affected.

Brain development is a complex process that starts in the embryonic stage and continues throughout childhood and adolescence. Specifically, brain development begins at the very early embryonic developmental stage called neurula-stage, characterised by the formation of the neural tube, which gives rise to the central nervous system. The initial stages of brain development include neural induction, neural proliferation, and neural migration, during which time the neural tube is formed, and neurons begin to develop. In mouse, the neural tube formation occurs by day 7 of gestation when even the placenta is not functioning yet (Copp 2005). This is followed by the formation of synapses – which allow neurons to communicate

with each other – and the growth of axons and dendrites which form the complex neural networks that are critical for brain function. In the prenatal period, neurogenesis and migration continue and the brain rapidly grows in size and complexity. During the first few years of life, the brain undergoes a period of rapid synaptogenesis and pruning, during which time connections between neurons are strengthened or eliminated based on experience and environmental factors. Throughout childhood and adolescence, the brain continues to develop and mature, with changes in grey and white matter density, myelination, and functional connectivity. The process of brain development is highly sensitive to environmental influences, such as nutrition, stress, and early life experiences, and disruptions to normal brain development can have significant consequences for cognitive and emotional development (Houston, Herting, and Sowell 2014; Johnson 2001; Kandel 2014).

The most critical steps in brain development that, if disrupted, can lead to neurodevelopmental disorders are neural tube formation, neural proliferation and migration, synaptogenesis and pruning, and myelination. Neural tube formation occurs in the first few weeks of gestation and gives rise to the brain and spinal cord; failure of the neural tube to close properly can result in neural tube defects such as spina bifida, which can lead to a range of neurological and developmental problems (Detrait et al. 2005; Harris and Juriloff 2007). Another critical step is neural proliferation and migration: during this stage, the brain generates the appropriate number and types of neurons and glial cells which migrate to their appropriate locations in the brain. Disruptions in this process can lead to conditions such as lissencephaly – in which the brain is smaller than normal (Mochida 2009). Also, synaptogenesis and pruning has a pivotal role in brain formation: this stage involves the formation of synapses and the strengthening or elimination of connections based on experience and environmental factors. Disruptions in this process can lead to conditions such as leader of synapses and the strengthening or elimination of connections based on experience and environmental factors. Disruptions in this

by difficulties in social interaction and communication, and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), which is characterised by hyperactivity, impulsivity, and inattention (Martínez-Morga et al. 2018; Watanabe et al. 2021; Yenkoyan et al. 2017). The final important step is myelination, the process by which axons are coated with a fatty substance called myelin, which speeds up neural transmission. Disruptions in this process can lead to conditions such as multiple sclerosis, which is characterised by demyelination of the nervous system, or leukodystrophies, which are a group of inherited disorders that affect myelin formation (Fancy et al. 2010).

1.2.1 Role of lipids in brain development

Within all the components playing crucial roles in brain development and contributing to its structure and function, lipids are undeniably one of the most important. They are essential building blocks for the formation and maintenance of neuronal membranes, providing structural integrity and facilitating cellular communication (Borroni, Vallés, and Barrantes 2016; Bush, Lee, and Nagele 1992; Poitelon, Kopec, and Belin 2020)(Borroni, Vallés, and Barrantes 2016; Bush, Lee, and Nagele 1992; Poitelon, Kopec, and Belin 2020). As brain development starts at the very early stage of post-implantation embryonic development called the neurula-stage, it is important to mention that the first source of lipids contributing to brain development comes from the embryo itself: lipid supply through maternal nursing via placental blood stream starts later (Copp 2005). Indeed, lipid droplets present in mammalian oocytes are utilised during the post implantation period (Arena et al. 2021) and have been found to not be essential for embryo pre-implantation development(Nagashima et al. 1995).

The brain is one of the most lipid-rich organ in the body, with lipids accounting for approximately 50% of its dry weight (Montesinos, Guardia-Laguarta, and Area-Gomez 2020).

Unsurprisingly, lipid metabolism disorders can cause severe neurological symptoms and developmental abnormalities (Bazinet and Layé 2014), highlighting the importance of lipids for a correct brain development.

Lipids are involved in various aspects of brain development, including the formation and growth of neuronal cells and the myelination of axons. In particular, lipids are critical for the development and function of glial cells, which are the primary support cells of the brain (Barber and Raben 2019). Glial cells play a crucial role in maintaining the structural integrity of the brain, regulating neurotransmitter signalling, and providing metabolic support to neurons (Puchkov and Haucke 2013). One important group of lipids involved in brain development is the phospholipids. Phospholipids are a class of lipids that are composed of a glycerol backbone, two fatty acid chains, and a phosphate group. They are a major component of the cell membrane, where they form a bilayer that separates the interior of the cell from the external environment. Phospholipids are critical for the formation and maintenance of neuronal and glial cell membranes and are involved in the regulation of membrane fluidity and stability (Goracci et al. 1973; Lehninger 1968). Another important group of lipids involved in brain development is the sphingolipids. Sphingolipids are a class of lipids that are composed of a sphingosine backbone, a fatty acid chain, and a polar head group. They are involved in various cellular processes, including signal transduction, cell adhesion, and apoptosis. Sphingolipids are particularly important for the formation and maintenance of myelin, which is a fatty sheath that surrounds axons and enables rapid and efficient signal transmission between neurons (Hussain et al. 2019; Kalinichenko et al. 2022).

Moreover, lipids play a crucial role in synaptogenesis – the formation of synapses – and pruning – the elimination of unnecessary or weak synapses during brain development. The process of synaptogenesis and pruning is essential for proper neuronal connectivity and the establishment of functional neural networks in the brain (Olsen and Færgeman 2017). Synapse

formation and stability is affected by the composition and properties of the lipids that make up cell membranes, one of the most well-known functions of lipids. One important class of lipids involved in synaptogenesis and pruning is phospholipids. Phosphatidylserine, a type of phospholipid, has been shown to promote synaptogenesis and improve synaptic plasticity (Fagone and Jackowski 2009). In contrast, high levels of sphingomyelin, another type of phospholipid, have been associated with decreased synaptic density and impaired synaptic function (Mauch et al. 2001).

In addition to their role in cell membrane composition, lipids can also act as signalling molecules that regulate synaptogenesis and pruning. For example, arachidonic acid – an omega-6 fatty acid – has been shown to promote synapse formation and maturation by modulating NMDA receptor function (Bazan 2003). Docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) – another omega-3 fatty acid - has also been implicated in synapse formation and function, as well as cognitive development (Bazinet and Layé 2014). DHA is particularly enriched in the brain, and its deficiency has been linked to impaired synaptic plasticity and cognitive deficits (Hall 2016; Talamonti et al. 2020).

1.2.2 Role of lipid peroxidation and oxidative stress in brain development

During ART procedures, gametes and embryos are subjected to several non-physiological conditions such as temperature fluctuations, visible light exposure, atmospheric oxygen, CO₂ incubators, humidity levels, volatile organic compounds, and additives present in the culture media. Collectively these factors contribute to an environment that promotes increased oxidative stress (OS) (Agarwal et al. 2006) which can lead to damage of cellular lipids, organelles, and DNA in gametes and embryos (Combelles, Gupta, and Agarwal 2009; Mihalas et al. 2017; Musson et al. 2022). OS results from an imbalance between reactive oxygen species

(ROS) production and antioxidant defence mechanisms. Exposure to OS during preimplantation development may then further impair embryonic development during the post-implantation period as the embryo will be the exclusive source of building blocks (i.e lipids, proteins) for the first developmental stage before maternal contribution begins via placentation (Chen et al. 2017). OS therefore may have the potential to influence brain development, as a result of damage sustained to embryos during ART procedures.

Moreover, the developing brain itself is particularly vulnerable to oxidative stress due to its high oxygen consumption, high content of polyunsaturated fatty acids, and low antioxidant capacity. Lipid peroxidation, a major consequence of OS, is the process of oxidative degradation of polyunsaturated fatty acids in cellular membranes, leading to the formation of reactive aldehydes such as 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal (HNE) and malondialdehyde (MDA) (Dix and Aikens 1993). These lipid peroxidation products can alter cellular signalling pathways, modify protein structure and function, and induce DNA damage, leading to impaired neuronal function and neurodevelopmental disorders (Shichiri 2014). Additionally, 4-HNE and MDA act as potent inflammatory mediators. which can trigger the activation of pro-inflammatory signalling pathways and can damage cellular membranes, disrupting the integrity of the blood-brain barrier, and compromising the function of critical brain cells, contributing to neuroinflammation and impairing normal brain development (Adibhatla and Hatcher 2008; Cumaoğlu, Ağkaya, and Özkul 2019; Shichiri 2014; Wang et al. 2014).

During brain development, oxidative stress and lipid peroxidation can impact several critical processes, including neurogenesis, synaptogenesis, myelination, and neurotransmitter signalling. In particular, oxidative stress has been shown to impair neurogenesis by reducing the proliferation and differentiation of neural stem cells (NSCs) and inducing apoptosis of immature neurons (Semkova et al. 2022). Similarly, lipid peroxidation products such as HNE have been shown to alter the activity of synaptic proteins and impair synaptic plasticity and

function (Li et al. 2022). Furthermore, oxidative stress and lipid peroxidation can disrupt myelination by impairing the differentiation and maturation of oligodendrocytes, the cells that produce the myelin sheath that insulates neuronal axons (Haynes et al. 2006).

Excessive oxidative stress and lipid peroxidation have been implicated in the pathogenesis of several neurodevelopmental disorders, including ASD (Rose et al. 2012). For example, studies have shown increased levels of lipid peroxidation products in the brains of individuals with ASD, suggesting that lipid peroxidation may contribute to the pathogenesis of the disorder (Rossignol and Frye 2014).

The regulation of oxidative stress and lipid peroxidation is critical for normal brain development and function. Antioxidant defence mechanisms, such as superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase, and glutathione peroxidase (GPx), can scavenge ROS and prevent oxidative damage (Khan and Black 2003).

1.3 Brain structures

The human brain is a complex organ made up of numerous interconnected structures, each with unique functions and roles in regulating behaviour, cognition, and emotion. One of the most prominent structures is the cerebral cortex, which is responsible for processing sensory information, motor control, and higher cognitive functions such as language and decision-making. The cortex is divided into several lobes, including the frontal lobe, parietal lobe, temporal lobe, and occipital lobe, each of which has distinct functional specialisations (Gazzinga, Ivry, and Mangun 2018)

Other key structures in the brain include the limbic system, which is involved in emotion regulation and memory formation, and includes structures such as the hippocampus, amygdala, and hypothalamus (LeDoux 2003). The thalamus serves as a relay station for sensory information, while the basal ganglia play a crucial role in motor control and reward-based learning (Graybiel 2008).

In addition, the cerebellum is important for coordinating movement and balance, while the brainstem regulates essential functions such as breathing and heart rate (Swanson 2011).

1.3.1. Hippocampus: development, structure, and function

The hippocampus is a brain structure that is found in both humans and mice, and is known to play a critical role in learning and memory processes.

During early embryonic development, the hippocampus is derived from the neural ectoderm and arises from the dorsal portion of the telencephalon (Altman and Bayer 1990). As development proceeds, the hippocampus undergoes a series of complex morphological changes, including the formation of several subregions, such as the dentate gyrus, CA1, CA2, and CA3 (David and Pierre 2006).

The formation and differentiation of these subregions is regulated by a variety of genetic and environmental factors, including transcription factors, growth factors, and neurotransmitters (Khalaf-Nazzal and Francis 2013). For example, the transcription factor Pax6 is critical for the development of the dentate gyrus, while the growth factor FGF2 plays a key role in the differentiation of CA1 neurons (Li et al. 2013). As development continues into adolescence and adulthood, the hippocampus continues to undergo structural changes and reorganisation. For example, there is evidence to suggest that the number of synapses and dendritic spines in the

hippocampus increases during adolescence, leading to increased synaptic plasticity and learning ability (Andersen and Teicher 2004).

In adulthood, the hippocampus is characterised by a high degree of neuroplasticity, or the ability of neurons to change and adapt based on experience (Garthe and Kempermann 2012). This neuroplasticity is thought to underlie the formation of new memories and the ability to learn and adapt to new situations. However, the development of the hippocampus is not always smooth and can be affected by a variety of genetic and environmental factors. For example, exposure to stress during early development has been shown to have negative effects on hippocampal development, leading to reduced neurogenesis and impaired learning and memory processes (Smith and Pollak 2020).

There are some differences in the exact structure and function of the hippocampus between humans and mice, but there are also many similarities that have been observed through research.

In humans, the hippocampus is in the medial temporal lobe and is composed of several subregions, including the dentate gyrus, CA1, CA2, and CA3 (David and Pierre 2006). The hippocampus is involved in many aspects of memory formation and retrieval, including spatial memory, contextual memory, and episodic memory (Eichenbaum 2000). Damage to the hippocampus – such as in Alzheimer's disease or after a traumatic brain injury – can lead to severe memory deficits (Squire 1992).

In mice, the hippocampus is also located in the medial temporal lobe and is composed of similar subregions as in humans (Fanselow and Dong 2010). Studies in mice have been instrumental in elucidating the cellular and molecular mechanisms underlying hippocampal-dependent learning and memory processes. For example, it has been shown that the formation of new memories in the hippocampus is dependent on the plasticity of synapses, or the ability of neurons to strengthen or weaken their connections based on experience (Malenka and Bear 2004).

Only recently, some key differences in the structure and function of the hippocampus between humans and mice have been discovered; it has been shown that the human hippocampus is larger and more complex than the mouse hippocampus, with a greater number of cells and a more convoluted shape. Additionally, while the hippocampus is critical for spatial memory in both humans and mice, there is some evidence to suggest that the human hippocampus may be more involved in the integration of spatial and non-spatial information (Charvet and Finlay 2018).

1.3.2. Role of Hippocampus in NND

Abnormalities in hippocampal structure and function have been implicated in a range of neurodevelopmental disorders, including ASD, ADHD, and schizophrenia (Li et al. 2019). Studies have shown that individuals with ASD often have increased hippocampal volumes compared to normal, healthy brains, and that these volume alteration are associated with impairments in social communication and repetitive behaviours (Banker et al. 2021; Cloarec et al. 2019). In ADHD, the hippocampus has been found to be involved in working memory deficits, which are common in the disorder (Sagvolden and Sergeant 1998). In schizophrenia, there is evidence of reduced hippocampal volume and abnormalities in hippocampal function, which are associated with cognitive impairments and psychotic symptoms (Sun et al. 2023).

Animal studies have also provided further insights into the role of the hippocampus in neurodevelopmental disorders. Indeed, mice with genetic mutations that lead to ASD-like behaviours show abnormalities in hippocampal synaptic plasticity and impaired spatial learning and memory (Han et al. 2012).

1.3.3 Hypothalamus: development, structure, and function

The hypothalamus is a small but crucial region of the brain involved in a wide range of physiological processes, including the regulation of homeostasis, hormone secretion, circadian rhythms, and behaviour.

Its development begins during early embryogenesis through a complex series of events. It arises from the ventral part of the diencephalon and undergoes regionalisation into distinct nuclei and neuronal populations. The development of the hypothalamus is governed by precise spatio-temporal expression patterns of transcription factors which regulate the proliferation, differentiation, and migration of hypothalamic progenitor cells, contributing to the establishment of diverse hypothalamic nuclei (Shimogori et al. 2010).

The hypothalamus is a compact region located below the thalamus, forming the ventral part of the diencephalon. It consists of several distinct nuclei, including the paraventricular nucleus (PVN), arcuate nucleus (ARC), suprachiasmatic nucleus (SCN), and lateral hypothalamic area (LHA), among others (Bear, Reddy, and Bollu 2022).

The hypothalamus plays a vital role in maintaining homeostasis by integrating sensory information and orchestrating appropriate physiological responses. It regulates body temperature, thirst and hunger sensations, sleep-wake cycles, stress responses, and reproductive behaviours. Additionally, the hypothalamus controls the release of hormones from the pituitary gland, coordinating endocrine functions throughout the body. Relevantly, this region also interacts with other brain areas, including the limbic system, in modulating emotional and motivated behaviours. The intricate functions of the hypothalamus are mediated by various neurotransmitter systems and neuropeptides, such as dopamine, serotonin, orexins, and corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) (Shahid, Asuka, and Singh 2022).

1.3.4 Role of Hypothalamus in NND

The hypothalamus is increasingly recognised as playing a significant role in the pathogenesis of neurodevelopmental disorders. Abnormalities in hypothalamic structure, connectivity, and function can contribute to the core symptoms and associated features of these disorders. Dysregulation of hypothalamic circuits can impact vital processes such as social behaviour, emotion regulation, sleep-wake cycles, appetite, and hormone secretion.

Studies have identified alterations in hypothalamic structure and connectivity in individuals with ASD, and it has been associated with impaired social cognition and behaviour in ASD (Caria, Ciringione, and de Falco 2020).

1.4 Mus Musculus as a model for neurodevelopmental disorders

Neurodevelopmental disorders are a group of disorders that affect the development and function of the nervous system. These disorders are highly complex and have a multifactorial etiology, involving both genetic and environmental factors. One approach to understanding the underlying mechanisms of these disorders is to use animal models, such as *Mus musculus*, commonly known as the laboratory mouse. Humans and mice are similar under many aspects, like genetic, behaviour, and brain structure and function. Particularly, humans and mice share a high degree of genetic similarity, with approximately 85% homologous genomes. Many genes and pathways that are critical to neurodevelopment and neurological functions are conserved between the two species. For instance, genes involved in synapse formation, neural circuit development, and neurotransmitter signalling are shared between humans and mice (Rosenthal and Brown 2007; Silverman et al. 2010). Moreover, mice exhibit many of the same

behaviours and cognitive abilities as humans, and can be tested using similar behavioural assays. For example, both humans and mice exhibit social behaviours, and deficits in social behaviour are a hallmark feature of many neurodevelopmental disorders, including autism spectrum disorder (ASD). Mouse models of ASD exhibit similar deficits in social behaviour, as well as repetitive behaviours and communication deficits, which are also observed in humans with ASD (Crawley 2007; Kazdoba et al. 2012). Another similarity between human and mice is related to the structure and function of the brain which is also highly similar with some of the same brain regions and circuits involved in complex behaviours. For instance, studies have revealed similarities between human and mouse hippocampus, showing comparable neuronal organisation, such as the presence of pyramidal cells and granule cells, as well as distribution of neurotransmitter receptors in both human and mouse hippocampi (Clark and Squirea 2013). Moreover, both human and mouse hippocampi exhibit analogous synaptic plasticity mechanisms, including long-term potentiation and long-term depression, suggesting shared fundamental processes underlying learning and memory (Clark and Squirea 2013).

The remarkable resemblances between the structure, neuronal arrangement, synaptic plasticity, and functional connectivity of the human and mouse brains emphasise the utility of mice as model organisms in the study of neurodevelopmental disorders. Additionally, the shorter lifespan of mice compared to humans makes them a valuable tool for assessing the long-term impacts and transgenerational transmission of neurodevelopmental disorders in offspring conceived through assisted reproductive technologies (ART).

1.4.1 Impact of sex on mouse behaviour

It is increasingly recognised that male and female mice exhibit distinct behavioural patterns indicating that sex differences play an important role in mouse behavioural testing.

Various behavioural domains can be influenced by sex, including social behaviour, anxiety, cognitive function, and locomotor activity.

Female mice may display more pronounced maternal behaviour but hormonal fluctuations across the estrous cycle can impact female behaviour, necessitating careful consideration of the stage of the estrous cycle during testing. Using females in behavioural testing may constitute a challenging biological variable. This is one of the reasons why male mice are commonly used for behavioural testing and females are excluded. Moreover, male mice display more consistent and robust behaviours, making them suitable for assessing behavioural phenotypes in various neurobiological studies. Second, the hormonal profile of male mice is relatively stable compared to female mice, reducing the potential confounding effects of hormonal fluctuations on behaviour. Third, male mice show specific behavioural patterns, such as increased aggression and territoriality, which can be relevant to certain research questions (Eltokhi, Kurpiers, and Pitzer 2020; Saré, Lemons, and Smith 2021).

2. METHODS

2.1 Animals

All experimental procedures were conducted according to the guidelines of European Community Regulation 86/609 and conformed to the Polish Governmental Act for Animal Care. Animal procedures were conducted at the Małopolska Centre of Biotechnology and the Institute of Zoology and Biomedical Research of Jagiellonian University-Kraków (permission no. 329/2021 approved by II Local Ethical Commission of Kraków). Animal experiments were performed on C57BL/6 mice. Animals were maintained in a temperature- and light-controlled room (22 °C and 12-h light–dark cycle) and were provided with food and water *ad libitum*.

2.2 Embryo collection and culture

3-5 months old C57BL/6 females were injected with 5iu of PMSG, followed by 5iu of hCG after 45-48h, and mated with 3-5 months old C57BL/6 males for IVC, and ET; while for NM (natural mating), 3-5 months old C57BL/6 females were mated with 3-5 months old C57BL/6 males, and allowed to deliver naturally (fig.2 Experimental plan). For IVC group the embryos were collected at day 2 (morning) and placed in culture in KSOM medium (Merck) covered with mineral oil for 2 days at 37°C in atmosphere of 90% N₂, 5% CO₂ and 5% O₂. For ET group, the embryos were flushed from uterus with 2ml of M2 media for each horn at day 4 (morning).

2.3 Embryo transfer

Day 4 embryos (IVC and ET) were transferred to pseudo-pregnant asynchronous F1 females (at day 3). The females were anesthetised with Ketamine/Xylazine (0.1 ml/g bodyweight of 12.5% solutions). The transfer of embryos to asynchronous recipients was carefully timed for each pregnancy. Embryo transfers for IVC, and ET were performed at day 4 to recipient mice

at day 3 of pseudo-pregnancy. After cleaning with chlorohexidine and shaving the back of the animal, a small incision was made and the uterus exposed. A small hole was made to the uterine wall to transfer embryos with a glass capillary pipette. The procedure was performed in both horns of the uterus. The body cavity was sutured, and the recipient female transferred to a clean cage placed on warming pad until its recovery. Females were allowed to deliver spontaneously (Sampino et al. 2014).



Figure 2: Experimental plan Offspring-I Generation. IVC= *in vitro* culture, ET= embryo transfer, NM= natural mating

2.4 Behavioural testing

8-9 weeks old IVC, ET, and NM males were subjected to Three Chambers recognition test, followed 1 week later by Light/Dark Box test.

2.4.1 Three Chamber Social recognition test

The test is conducted in an arena divided in 3 chambers with openings between them. The test consists of 3 Phases (Fig.3): I phase the animal is allowed to habituate to the experimental environment for 5 minutes; II Phase a stranger is placed in one of the compartments as a social stimuli and the activity of the experimental animal, being free to move throughout all

compartments, is recorded; III phase a second stranger as a novel stimuli is placed in the other compartment and the activity of the experimental animal, again free to move in all compartments, is recorded for 5 minutes (Rein, Ma, and Yan 2020).



Figure 3: Schematic rapresentation of Three chamber social recognition test.

2.4.1 Light/Dark Box test

The test is performed in arena that consists of two compartments. The light compartment is ¹/₂ of the box and is brightly lit and open. The dark compartment is ¹/₂ of the total box and is covered and dark. A door of 7 cm connects the two compartments. Mice are placed in the dark compartment of the apparatus and are allowed to move freely between the two different compartments for 10 minutes. The length of time that the mouse spends before first entering the light box (i.e. latency time), the number of entries to each compartment, and the time spent in each zone – light or dark – were scored. Videos were recorded using Logitech camera and Clipchamp software, video analyses were assessed by an experimenter blind to the experimental conditions (Bourin and Hascoët 2003).

2.5 Animals- II generation

3 months old females from IVC and ET group were mated with 3-5 months old C57BL/6 males to obtain II generation IVC- female line and ET- female line; 14 days after completing behavioural testing 3 months old males from IVC and ET group were mated with 3-5 months C57BL/6 females to obtain II generation IVC-male line and II generation ET- male line. Additionally, IVC females and IVC males were crossed to obtain II generation IVC female x
IVC male line (Fig.4). The above-described paired animals were housed for 14 days to allow the mating, after that the females' bodyweight was recorded to ensure the established pregnancy (i.e. increase in bodyweight indicates pregnancy), then the females were separated from the males and allowed to deliver naturally.



Figure 4: Schematic representation of II generation groups. IVC= *in vitro* Culture, NM=Natural Mating (CONTROL) I= First Generation, II= Second Generation.

2.6 Brain Collection

After completion of behavioural tests, and subsequent mating for II generation, adult mice offspring (I Generation) were ethically sacrificed by decapitation performed with fine scissors. The heads were placed on clean paper towel to remove remaining blood. Using the scissors, midline incision was made in the skin. Remaining muscles and skin were removed using curved scissors to reveal skull. After cutting of the optic nerve behind each eyeball, a cut was made in the skull between nasal and frontal area. Using Pean's forceps or spatula all bones were peeled off starting from occipital area. Finally, using spatula the brain was extracted by elevating it from the medulla bottom. The removed brain was weighed and immediately placed on ice-cold Petri dish where all brain regions of interest were dissected and snap frozen in liquid nitrogen (LN). The samples were stored in -80°C freezer or in LN for further use (Wager-Miller et al. 2020).

2.7 Prenatal collection at 19.5 dpc

Pregnant females were ethically sacrificed by cervical dislocation at 19 dpc; a midline incision of the ventral skin and abdominal wall muscles was performed to expose and remove the uterus containing embryos. Each embryo was isolated by firstly removing remaining uterine tissue, then each embryo was carefully extracted out of its yolk sac, and ethically euthanized. Prenatal brain was isolated using curved forceps (Clarkson, Martin, and McKeegan 2022).

2.8 Histology- prenatal brain

After collection, foetuses at 19 dpc were fixed in 4% (w:v) paraformaldehyde and subsequently dehydrated into increasing ethanol solutions and cleared in xylene mixture. Finally, they were paraffin embedded. 8µm sections were used for haematoxylin eosin staining (Cardiff, Miller, and Munn 2014).

2.9 ELISA based assays - prenatal brain and adult Hypothalamus

Firstly, protein extraction was performed on prenatal brain and adult hypothalamus, the tissues were lysed in PBS supplemented with protease inhibitor cocktail (Sigma Aldrich Co). Samples were then centrifuged at 5000g for 5 minutes and supernatant was used immediately for analysis or aliquoted and stored at -20°C for further measurements. Total protein content was determined by Coomassie Protein Assay for normalisation of values. Samples were subjected to ELISA-based assays.

Superoxide dismutase (SOD) activity was measured in prenatal brain and hippocampus homogenates, using a colorimetric assay (Invitrogen), following manufacturer's instructions. Levels of reduced (GSH)- and oxidised (GSSG)- glutathione were determined using a colorimetric assay in prenatal brain and hippocampus following homogenisation according to

manufacturer's instructions. MDA levels were determined by TBArs assay (Sigma Aldrich), following manufacturer's instructions.

2.10 qPCR- prenatal brain - Gene expression analysis

Gene expression analysis was performed on mouse prenatal brain tissues obtained from CTR, IVC, and ET groups. Total RNA was extracted with RNAzol (Sigma Aldrich Co.) following manufacturer's instructions. One microgram of total RNA was subjected to reverse transcription to obtain cDNA, using Omniscript reverse transcription kit (Qiagen). cDNA obtained were used for gene expression analysis using specific primers. PCR reactions were performed using PowerUpTM SYBRTM Green Master Mix (Applied Biosystems) with a QuantStudio Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystem). Relative gene expression data was calculated using the comparative threshold cycle method (∆∆Ct) (Livak and Schmittgen 2001).

2.11 Liquid chromatography and tandem mass spectrometry- adult hippocampus

Proteomic analysis was performed on hippocampus collected from 4- month-old mice. 20mg of tissue (n. 5 / group) were homogenised in 200ml of ice-cold lysis buffer. The homogenates were sonicated in a Bioruptor UCD-200 (Diagenode, 320W, 30s/30s on/off, 10 min.) and centrifuged (20 000g, 12°C, 10 min.). The protein concentration was measured by Bradford assay. Then, samples were processed using filter-aided sample preparation protocol. The peptides were analysed on a Q-Exactive mass spectrometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific) coupled to an UltiMate 3000 RSLCnano System (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Samples were loaded into a trap column (Thermo Fisher Scientific) in 2% acetonitrile with 0.05% trifluoracetic acid at a flow rate of 5ml/min and were further separated on an analytical column (Thermo Fisher Scientific) with a 240-min gradient from 2% to 40% acetonitrile in 0.05% formic acid at a flow

rate of 250nl/min. Eluting peptides were ionised using a Digital PicoView 550 nanospray source (New Objective). The mass spectrometer was operated in data-dependent acquisition mode. Full-scan MS spectra were acquired at a resolution of 70 000 over a mass range of 300 to 2000m/z, with an automatic gain control (AGC) target of 1e6. After each survey scan, the top twelve most intense, multiply charged ions were selected for fragmentation with 30s of dynamic exclusion. The MS/MS spectra were acquired at a resolution of 17 500 with an AGC target of 5e5. The maximum ion accumulation times for the full MS and the MS/MS scans were 120 and 60ms, respectively. Instrument performance was controlled with QCloud. MS data processing: raw mass spectra from individual samples were processed using MaxQuant 1.6.5.0. Peak lists were searched against the forward and reverse Swissprot_201 902 database (Rodentia, 26 822 sequences) using the integrated Andromeda search engine (Cox et al. 2011). Only fully tryptic peptides with up to two missed cleavages and a minimum length of seven amino acids were considered. Cysteine carbamidomethylation was set as a fixed modification. Methionine oxidation and protein N-terminal acetylation were searched as variable modifications. The precursor mass tolerance in the first search used for mass recalibration was set to 20ppm. The main search was performed with precursor and fragment mass tolerances of 4.5ppm and 20ppm, respectively. The match between runs option was enabled within a time window of 0.7min. The maximum false discovery rate for both peptide and protein identifications were set to 1%. All proteins that could not be distinguished based on the identified peptides were merged to one protein group. Relative quantification and normalisation were performed with the MaxLFQ label-free algorithm using a minimum ratio count of 2. Both razor and unique peptides were used for protein quantitation. Samples from males and females were analysed in separate batches. Bioinformatic and statistical analysis: for bioinformatic analysis and visualisation, Perseus 1.6.5.0, which is part of MaxQuant and the R framework, was used (Tyanova et al. 2016). Contaminants, proteins from the reverse database, and proteins identified only with modified peptides were excluded from the study. All bioinformatic analyses were executed on label-free quantification intensities transformed to logarithmic scale to the base two. Proteins that were identified in at least three replicates in each group were included in the quantitative analysis. Missing values were imputed with a normal distribution (width ¹/₄ 0.3; shift ¹/₄ 1.8). Overall group comparisons were performed using one-way ANOVA; significant results were further examined using Tukey's adjustment for *post hoc* comparisons. P < 0.05 was considered significant. Enrichment analysis was performed using online tool g:Profiler (http://biit.cs.ut.ee/gprofiler/) (Reimand et al. 2007).

2.12 Coherent Anti-Stokes Raman spectroscopy- oocytes and embryos

The multimodal nonlinear microscope used in this study consisted of a Leica DMi8 inverted microscope equipped with the Leica TCS SP8 CARS module and the Leica SP8 confocal module (Leica Microsystems). The Leica TCS SP8 CARS uses a tuneable pump laser with a tuning range of 780 nm to 940 nm, combined with a Stokes laser at 1064 nm, provided by Laser picoEmerald and integrated with a 750mW power optical parametric oscillator. *Samples preparation:* Samples were measured in drops of 200µl of 0.4% PBS-PVP placed on a Lab-Tek chamber (Thermo Scientific) after fixation in 4% paraformaldehyde for 20min. *LDs signal detection:* to image the LDs, the optical parametric oscillator's wavelength was tuned to 816.7nm to serve as the pump beam, in combination with the 1064nm Stokes beam to probe the CH₂ stretch vibration. All signals were detected using a photomultiplier tube by collecting the photons in a forward direction through a 40X objective. Each sample was scanned across all of its sizes in the Z-axis using a z-step of 1.5µm. For the analysis, all stacks from a single sample were processed to obtain a maximum projection image. The threshold was adjusted specifically for all samples to collect all positive signals. When necessary, LDs were separated

manually in cases of obvious pixel overlay. Statistics regarding the LDs area and number were generated automatically by LAS X software (Leica Microsystems). The LAS X software was used to apply colour-coded LD size masks to the maximum projection images for graphical observation of the LDs' size distribution of the analysed samples. The oocytes and blastocyst area was calculated using ImageJ (NIH) due to limitations of the LAS X software (Arena et al. 2021).

2.13 Nile Red-Bodipy staining

LDs were stained on blastocysts previously fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 20min. The fixed blastocysts were incubated with 1µg/ml BODIPY 493/503 (InvitrogenTM) and 10µg/ml Nile Red in 0.4% PBS-PVP for 1h and then washed three times in 0.4% PBS-PVP. Mounted specimens were analysed with confocal a ZEISS LSM 880 Confocal Laser Scanning Microscope using a 20X Zeiss Plan-Apochromat Infinitive corrected objective with a numerical aperture of 0.8. Relative fluorescence signal intensities were analysed using ImageJ and normalised to control (young) (Bisogno et al. 2023).

Chapter I. Effect of *in vitro* culture of embryos on offspring behaviour and development.

I.I Behaviour

In order to verify the extent of ART-induced neurodevelopmental alterations, the effect of *in vitro* culture of embryos on offspring behaviour was evaluated.

In vitro cultured embryos (IVC) were transferred to pseudo-pregnant females. Control groups consist of embryos obtained by natural mating (NM), developed *in vivo*. As an additional control, part of those embryos were transferred to pseudo-pregnant females (embryo transfer, ET), similarly to IVC group. Offspring born from IVC, ET, and NM was subjected to behavioural testing to assess sociability and anxiety like-behaviour.

1. Social recognition -Three chamber social recognition test

IVC adult males showed impairment in behaviour, particularly reduced sociability, and novel interaction.

First generation of IVC males showed significant reduction of social interaction time in comparison to NM and reduced social preference index (Fig 5A) in comparison to both control groups NM and ET which is a consistent indication of social deficits, including impairment in social engagement, social interest, social interaction and social preference.

In regards to novelty interaction, IVC males are characterised by decreased social motivation and novelty in comparison to NM, as shown by lower interaction time with the novel stimuli (N) (Fig.5B), although IVC males still showed higher Novel interaction (N) than Non-Novel interaction (NN), a sign of intact social memory.



Figure 5: Sociability and novel interaction are reduced in IVC males (Three chamber social recognition test). A Social interaction. Left graph shows interaction time (in seconds) with the social stimuli (S), and Non-Social stimuli (NS) during the II phase of the test. ANOVA- followed by *post hoc* Bonferroni test multiple comparison. * p < 0.05 ** p < 0.01 **** p < 0.001 **** p < 0.0001. mean ± SEM. Right graph shows social preference index calculated as ISP = (T_S - T_{NS})/(T_S + T_{NS}). T (time), I_{SP} (Index of Social Preference) Non-parametric ANOVA- followed by Kruskal-Wallis test multiple comparison. * p < 0.05 ** p < 0.01, mean ± SEM. Number of samples ≥ 9 B. Novel interaction Left graph shows interaction time (in seconds) with the novel stimuli (N), and Non-novel stimuli (NN) during the III phase of the test. ANOVA- followed by post hoc Bonferroni test multiple comparison. ** p < 0.01 **** p < 0.001 **** p < 0.0001. mean ± SEM. Right graph shows novel preference test.

index calculated as $I_{NP} = (T_N - T_{NN})/(T_N + T_{NN})$. One way ANOVA- followed by *post hoc* Bonferroni test multiple comparison. * p < 0.05 mean ± SEM. Number of samples ≥ 9 .

2. Anxiety-like behaviour (Light/Dark Box test)

In order to reveal if IVC offspring show any anxiety-like behaviour, animals from IVC group were subjected to Light/dark box test, a behavioural assay commonly used for this purpose. IVC males displayed normal spontaneous exploratory behaviour in novel environments as demonstrated by similar values compared to NM males in latency time (s) – the length of time

the mouse spends to first enter the light box - and in the number (n) of transitions, which indicates how many times the mouse moved from the dark to the light box (Fig. 6).

Additionally, IVC males present natural aversion to the brightly illuminated area. Indeed, IVC males as well as ET and NM spent majority of their time in the dark box, and no differences in time spent in the dark box were found between groups (Fig. 6).



Figure 6: Anxiety-like behaviour is not altered in IVC offspring (Light/Dark Box test). The graphs show latency time in seconds (s), the number (n) of transition from dark to light box, and time in the light box for IVC, ET, and NM animals. n of samples ≥ 8 . mean \pm SEM. ANOVA- followed by Kruskal-Wallis test multiple comparison, p > 0.05.

I.II General health assessment

To reveal the effect of *in vitro* culture of embryos on offspring development, the general health of offspring born from IVC embryos was assessed by evaluating bodyweight and survival rate from pre-weaning period to adulthood. Pregnancy rate, offspring rate, and litter size were also evaluated to assess embryo survival and subsequent development to term.

1. Bodyweight

First generation progeny born after *in vitro* culture present increased bodyweight in preweaning period which persists in adulthood.

Progeny born after *in vitro* culture (IVC) showed increased bodyweight in comparison to naturally-conceived (NM) offspring at birth and during preweaning age. This alteration is present in both males and females.

Specifically, IVC males present higher bodyweight at PND 2, 14, 21, and 28 in comparison to NM (Fig.7A). Interestingly, this increased bodyweight is not correlated with litter size (r < 0.3 or r > -0.3 p value > 0.05 after Pearson r correlation analysis). Additionally, ET males also present increased bodyweight in comparison to NM, at PND 14, 21, and 28 (Fig.7A) but at PND 14 the increased bodyweight is moderately correlated to the litter size (r = -0.6895 p value= 0.0399 after Pearson r correlation).

Similarly, IVC females showed higher bodyweight in each stage of pre-weaning period (PND 2, 7, 14, 21, 28) in comparison to NM females while ET females show increased bodyweight only at PND 21 and 28 (Fig.7B). The increased bodyweight for IVC and ET females is not correlated to the litter size (r < 0.3 or r > -0.3 p value > 0.05 after Pearson r correlation analysis). The elevated bodyweight persists in adulthood for both IVC males and IVC females (Fig.7 C).



0

ET

NM

IVC

0

IVC

ΕT

NM

Figure 7: Pre-weaning growth curve and adulthood bodyweight perturbations in IVC offspring. A. Preweaning bodyweight (Males). The graph shows bodyweight at PND 2, 7, 14, 21, and 28 males progeny (IVC, ET, and NM). Mean ± SEM, ANOVA- followed by Kruskal-Wallis test multiple comparison, * p < 0.05 ** p < 0.01, p < 0.01 **** p < 0.001 **** p < 0.0001. Number of samples NM ≥ 18 , ET=9, IVC ≤ 10 B. Pre-weaning bodyweight (females) The graph shows bodyweight at PND 2, 7, 14, 21, and 28 female progeny (IVC, ET, and NM). Mean ± SEM, ANOVA- followed by Kruskal-Wallis test multiple comparison, * p < 0.05 ** p < 0.01, p < 0.01 *** p < 0.001. Number of samples NM ≥ 16 , ET=5, IVC=8 C. Adult bodyweight (males and females). The graphs show bodyweight in adult males and females (3-4 months old). Mean ± SEM, ANOVA- followed by Kruskal-Wallis test multiple comparison, * p < 0.05 n samples males IVC=9, ET=5, NM=11, n samples females IVC=12, ET=4, NM=9.

2. Offspring survival

IVC progeny show a survival rate comparable to NM offspring.

Survival rate of the progenies has been recorded during preweaning time (PND 2, and PND 28), at weaning (5 weeks), and at 6 weeks (1 week after weaning). IVC progeny doesn't show any significant difference in survival rate in comparison with ET and NM group.

During pre-weaning time at PND 2, 90.91% (30 pups/33 pups born), 87.40% (14 pups/ 16 pups born), and 97.30% (36 pups/37 pups born) of the pups born respectively from IVC, ET, and NM group were still alive. Similarly, at PND 28, 72.73% of IVC progeny (24 pups/33 pups born), 87.50% of ET progeny (14 pups/16 pups born), and 86.49% of NM progeny (32 pups/37 pups born) survived (Fig.8A).

IVC, ET, and NM pups equally survived until weaning (5 weeks) and beyond (6 weeks). At 5 weeks 72.73% of IVC group, 87.50% of ET group, and 78.38% of NM pups survived; similarly at 6 weeks, 63.64% of IVC, 81.25% of ET, and 78.38% of NM pups survived (Fig.8B).



Figure 8: Offspring survival I generation. A. Survival rate at pre-weaning age. The graphs show survival rate in percentage (%) at PND 2 and PND 28; numbers above the columns indicates n of alive pups out of n of born pups. p>0.05 after χ -square test **B. Survival rate at weaning and after weaning.** The graphs show survival rate in percentage (%) at 5 weeks old and 6 weeks old; numbers above the columns indicates n of alive pups out of n of born of born pups. p>0.05 after χ -square test.

3. Embryo survival and development to term

The use of assisted reproductive technologies negatively impact on embryo survival and development to term.

The majority of the transferred IVC embryos did not develop into alive offspring. Indeed only 21.85% IVC embryos (33 pups born/151 transferred embryos) successfully developed to term

resulting in alive offspring. Similarly, 24.62% of ET embryos developed to term (16 pups born/65 transferred embryos) (Fig.9).

Additionally, the survival of IVC and ET embryos was lower than NM. IVC litter size and ET litter size were significantly smaller than NM (Fig. 9).

However, pregnancy was not affected by ART. Specifically, 9 out of 11 embryo transfers (81.82%) performed using IVC embryos successfully resulted in pregnancy, and similarly 5 out 6 females (83.33%) resulted pregnant after transfer of ET embryos. Naturally-conceived embryos showed 100% of pregnancy success: 7 out of 7 mated females became pregnant.



Figure 9: ART impacts on embryo survival and development to term. Left graph shows offspring rate in percentage; n above the columns indicate n pups born out of transferred embryos. p>0.05 after χ -square test. Middle graph shows the litter size of IVC, ET, and NM group. Mean ± SEM, ANOVA- followed by Kruskal-Wallis test multiple comparison. * p < 0.05; n litters per group: IVC=9, ET=5, NM=7. Right graph shows percentage of pregnant females per group. Numbers above the columns indicate respectively, number of pregnant females out of number of females in which IVC and ET embryos have been transferred to, and number of pregnant females out of number of mated females (NM). p>0.05 after χ -square test.

4. Fertility

Progeny conceived by ART does not show fertility impairments.

IVC males and females from I generation progeny were mated in order to obtain II generation male and female line (IVC \bigcirc line, and IVC \bigcirc line); moreover IVC females and males were crossed in order to obtain IVC cross line (IVC \bigcirc x \bigcirc line).

The pregnancy rate for IVC cross line, male line, and female line is respectively 88.89% of pregnancy success (8 pregnant females out of 9 mated females), 66.66% (6 pregnant females out of 9 mated females), and 100% (5 pregnant females out of 5 mated females) (Fig.10). Similarly, the litter size of the successful pregnancies did not show any difference in comparison to control group (NM) (Fig.10).



Figure 10. Fertility is not impaired in IVC offspring-I generation. Left graph shows percentage of pregnant females per group. Numbers above the columns indicate n of pregnant females out of n females mated. p>0.05 after χ -square test. Right graph show the litter size (n pups per litter). Mean \pm SEM, ANOVA- followed by Kruskal-Wallis test multiple comparison. p>0.05.

Chapter II. Intergenerational transmission of ART effects and effects of crossbreeding ART progenies

II.I Survival Rate

Survival was reduced in the second generation of ART offspring.

In order to evaluate the intergenerational transmission of ART effects, IVC males and females from I generation progeny were mated to obtain II generation male and female line (IVC $\stackrel{\circ}{\supset}$ line, and IVC $\stackrel{\circ}{\bigcirc}$ line); additionally, in order to establish the level of penetrance of ART aberrancies, IVC males and females were crossed to obtain IVC cross line (IVC $\stackrel{\circ}{\supset}$ x $\stackrel{\circ}{\bigcirc}$ line). Survival rate of the progenies was recorded during preweaning time (PND 2, and PND 28), at weaning (5 weeks), and at 6 weeks (1 week after weaning).

II generation progeny born from IVC parents showed higher mortality in comparison to control group (NM). In particular, IVC cross line (IVC 3×2 line) had the lowest survival between all experimental groups; indeed, only 24.39% of the born pups survived until 6 weeks of age (10 alive pups/41 pups born) (Fig. 11B). Similarly, during pre-weaning period IVC cross line exhibited lower survival rate than NM with 75.6% of survival rate (31 pups alive/41 born pups) at PND-2, 51.22% (21 alive pups/41 born pups) at PND-28, and 34.14% (14 alive pups/41 born pups) at 5-weeks of age (Fig.11A-B).

IVC male line progeny (IVC 3 line) also showed lower survival rate than NM but only after pre-weaning time when survival decreased, respectively, to 58.6% at 5-weeks of age (17 pups alive/36 pups born), and finally to 33.33% at 6-weeks (12 pups alive/36 pups born) (Fig.11B). During the pre-weaning time at PND 2 and PND-28, respectively 97,22% (35 pups/36 pups born), and 88.89% (32 pups/ 36 pups born) of the pups born were alive (Fig.11A). IVC female line progeny (IVC \bigcirc line) showed lower survival rate than control group (NM) at 6 weeks when only 50% of the pups were alive (16 pups/ 32 pups born) (Fig.11 B). At PND-2, -28, and 5 weeks of age, the survival rate remained steady at 90.63% (29 pups alive/32 pups born) and comparable to control group (Fig. 11 A-B).



Figure 11: II generation survival rate decreases at pre-weaning age and after weaning A. Survival rate at pre-weaning age. The graphs show survival rate in percentage (%) at PND 2 and PND 28, numbers above the columns indicates n of alive pups out of n of born pups. ** p < 0.01 vs NM, χ -square test **B. Survival rate after weaning.** The graphs show survival rate in percentage (%) at 5 weeks old and 6 weeks old, numbers above the columns indicates n of alive pups out of n of born pups. *p < 0.05 **p < 0.01 *** p < 0.001 vs NM, χ -Square test.

II.II Behaviour

1. Social recognition - Three chamber social recognition test

II generation ART offspring (IVC male line and female line) show impaired social recognition memory and reduced motivation for novelty.

In order to assess if social and novelty impairments in behaviour have been transmitted to the II generation of ART offspring, three chamber social recognition test was performed for all survived male progeny (5 from IVC \Im , 7 from IVC \Im , and 8 from IVC \Im).

Males from IVC male line (IVC \Diamond) and IVC female line (IVC \Diamond) showed no predilection for the novel stimuli (N) in comparison to the non-novel stimuli (NN) in III phase of the test, spending equal time to interact with the newly-introduced mice and already-known mice introduced in II phase (Fig. 12B-C right graphs). However, males from IVC \Diamond and IVC \Diamond group showed lower interaction time with the novel stimuli (N) in comparison to the control group (NM) (Fig. 12B-C right graphs).

Males from IVC $\Im x \mathring{d}$ showed higher interaction time with the novel stimuli (N) in comparison to Non-Novel stimuli (NN), as well as similar N and NN interaction time compared to the control group (NM) (Fig. 12 A- right graphs).

No alterations in social interaction were recorded for all 3 ART groups, as the interaction time spent with the social stimuli (S) resulted similar to NM, as well as the Social preference index (Fig. 12A-B-C left graphs)



Figure 12: Social recognition memory and motivation for novelty in II generation IVC (Three-Chamber social recognition test). A. IVC female line x IVC male line (IVC $\Im x \Im$). B. IVC male line (IVC \Im). C. IVC female line (IVC \Im). Left graphs show interaction time (in seconds) with the social stimuli (S), and Non-Social stimuli (NS) during the II phase of the test, followed by social preference index. ANOVA- followed by *post hoc* Bonferroni test multiple comparison. *** *p*< 0.001 **** *p*< 0.0001. mean ± SEM. social preference index calculated as ISP = (T_S – T_{NS})/(T_S + T_{NS}). T (time), I_{SP} (Index of Social Preference) Non-parametric ANOVA-followed by Kruskal-Wallis test multiple comparison, mean ± SEM. Right graphs show interaction time (in seconds) with the novel stimuli (N), and Non-novel stimuli (NN) during the III phase of the test, and preference index calculated as I_{NP} = (T_N – T_{NN})/(T_N + T_{NN}). One way ANOVA- followed by *post hoc* Bonferroni test multiple comparison. *** *p*< 0.0001 mean ± SEM.

II generation ART offspring (IVC female line) is characterised by higher levels of anxietylike behaviour.

Males from II generation were tested for anxiety-like behaviour by Light/Dark test which revealed that IVC males from females line (IVC \bigcirc) spent less time than control (NM) to enter the light box for the first time (latency time), and spent more time than control group in the light box (time in light); while males from IVC \bigcirc and IVC $\bigcirc x \bigcirc$ group showed similar latency time and time spent in light box than NM (Fig 13). All experimental groups showed similar number of transitions (n transitions) between dark and light box.



Figure 13: Anxiety-like behaviour in II generation IVC (Light/dark box test). The graphs show latency time in seconds (s), the number (n) of transition from dark to light box, and time in the light box. mean \pm SEM. ANOVA- followed by Kruskal-Wallis test multiple comparison, ** p < 0.01.

II.III Bodyweight

The survived II generation ART offspring don't show any growth perturbation in preweaning period.

Bodyweight was recorded from PND 2 until PND 28 (every 7 days). Males from , IVC \Im line, IVC \Im line showed lower bodyweight at PND-7 in comparison to NM males. No other

differences have been noticed from PND-14 to PND-28 (Fig.14A). Females from the 3 experimental groups of II generation did not show any variation in bodyweight when compared to NM females Fig. 14B).



Figure 14: Pre-weaning growth curve of II generation IVC. A The graph shows the bodyweight at PND 2, 7, 14, 21, and 28 related to males. Mean \pm SEM, ANOVA- Kruskal Wallis test multiple comparison, * p < 0.05 ** p < 0.01 *** p < 0.001 **** p < 0.0001 vs NM **B** The graph shows the bodyweight at PND 2, 7, 14, 21, and 28 related to females, n for Mean \pm SEM, ANOVA- Kruskal Wallis test multiple comparison, * p < 0.05 ** p < 0.01 **** p < 0.001 vs NM **B** The graph shows the bodyweight at PND 2, 7, 14, 21, and 28 related to females, n for Mean \pm SEM, ANOVA- Kruskal Wallis test multiple comparison, * p < 0.05 ** p < 0.01 **** p < 0.001 vs NM.

Chapter III. Brain alterations in ART offspring and foetuses collected at late pregnancy.

III.I Adult brain- Hypothalamus Oxidative stress

Hypothalamus of IVC males showed impaired antioxidant activity resulting in increased oxidative stress and elevated level of lipid peroxidation byproducts.

The regulation of oxidative stress and lipid peroxidation, critical for normal brain development and function, were observed to be altered in hypothalamus of IVC offspring as shown by lower level of reduced glutathione (GSH) – a crucial antioxidant that helps protect cells from oxidative damage – and lower levels of oxidised glutathione (GSGG) in comparison to control group (NM) (Fig.15). Moreover, GSH/GSSG ratio, an important indicator of cellular redox status and balance between antioxidant defence and oxidative stress, is increased in IVC hypothalamus, indicating an increased OS level, ulteriorly evidenced by increased level of Malondialdehyde (MDA), a lipid peroxidation byproduct (Fig 15).



Figure 15: Impaired antioxidant activity in Hypothalamus of adult IVC males – I generation. The graphs show GSSG, GSH in μ mol/mg, GSH/GSSG ratio, and MDA in nmol/mg. Mean ± SEM, ANOVA- Kruskal Wallis test multiple comparison, * p < 0.05; n samples per group =8.

III.II Adult brain- Hippocampus Proteomic

Proteins involved in pathways of neurodegeneration/neurological diseases and oxidative stress are differentially expressed in hippocampus of adult IVC progeny.

Proteomic analysis revealed alterations of protein expression in IVC mice hippocampi in comparison to NM groups. The differently-expressed proteins are involved in several pathways of neurodegeneration and neurodevelopmental disorders. Also, proteins involved in pathways related to oxidative stress, such as glutathione metabolism and oxidative phosphorylation, were differentially expressed in IVC hippocampus (Fig. 16).



Enrichment Analysis: KEGG pathways-Mouse Phenoype Ontology



Figure 16: Pathways involved in neurodegeneration/neurodevelopmental disorders and oxidative stress are altered in IVC adult hippocampus (Proteomic). Heatmap of differentially-expressed proteins in Hippocampus

from IVC adult male compared to NM (*upper graph*); enrichment analysis of differentially expressed proteins in hippocampus from IVC group related to several pathways (*bottom graph*) n samples= 5.

III.I Adult brain- weight

Adult IVC progeny showed increased brain weight which may indicate macrocephaly.

IVC adult brain weight is higher in comparison to NM adult brain weight (Fig. 17) and it is not correlated to the increased bodyweight (r < 0.3, p value > 0.05 after Pearson r correlation analysis). The increased brain weight could be an indication of macrocephaly or brain overgrowth, linked to autism-associated behaviours (Wang et al. 2020).



Figure 17: Brain weight increasing in adult IVC males. Brain weight in grams (g) of adult males for I generation IVC, ET, and NM. n samples IVC=5, ET=5, NM=11. Mean \pm SEM, ANOVA- Kruskal Wallis test multiple comparison, * p < 0.05 vs NM.

III.IV Prenatal brain - Oxidative stress

Oxidative stress level and consequent lipid peroxidation activity is considerably increased in IVC prenatal brain.

IVC prenatal brain showed increased level of GSH, GSSG, SOD activity, and MDA (Fig.18A). Elevated GSH levels is an adaptive response to counteract increased ROS production, while elevated GSSG levels reflect the accumulation of oxidised glutathione due to excessive ROS exposure. Also, SOD activity increases in order to mitigate the harmful effects of ROS by converting superoxide radicals into less reactive species. As a consequence of excessive oxidative stress, lipid peroxidation occurs and an elevated level of lipid peroxidation byproducts like MDA can be observed, likely resulting in cell membrane damage and cellular dysfunction.

Moreover, IVC prenatal brain showed decreased mRNA expression of HMOX1 (Heme Oxigenase 1) – a key component of the cellular antioxidant defence system – as well as decreased mRNA expression of PPAR- α (Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha), a regulator of anti-oxidative processes and essential element in fatty acid transport and lipid metabolism (Fig.18B).



Figure 18: Oxidative stress and lipid peroxidation increases in IVC prenatal brain. A. The graphs show GSSG, GSH in µmol/mg, SOD activity in units/mg, and MDA in nmol/mg. Mean \pm SEM, ANOVA- Kruskal Wallis test multiple comparison, * p < 0.05 ** p < 0.01 *** p < 0.001.n samples =8; **B.** The graphs show mRNA expression of HMOX1 and, PPAR- α , values are depicted as mRNA abundance relative to housekeeping gene eEF2, Student-t test , mean \pm SEM * < 0.05.

III.V Prenatal brain- Neurogenesis

Genes involved in crucial steps of neurogenesis have decreased expression in IVC

prenatal brains.

In order to establish if brain structure and function develop correctly in ART foetuses, several genes crucial in neurogenesis process and in neurodevelopmental diseases insurgence were analysed.

The expression of GABRA1 (Gamma-aminobutyric acid receptor subunit alpha-1) gene – which contributes to the proper balance of excitatory and inhibitory neurotransmission during prenatal brain development and is involved neuronal circuit formation – was lower in IVC prenatal brain in comparison to control group. Moreover, Cntnap2 (Contactin-associated protein-like 2) – important for proper neuronal migration, axon guidance, and the establishment of neural circuits – showed a decreased expression in IVC prenatal brain. Finally, expression of MapK3 (Mitogen-activated protein kinase 3) was lower in IVC group than control (Fig.19). MapK3 plays a crucial role in neuronal development and synaptic maturation in prenatal brain, and is involved in neurogenesis regulation, axon growth, and synapse formation.

The disruption in GABRA1, Cntnap2, and MapK3 can cause abnormal brain development leading to social and cognitive deficits.



Figure 19. mRNA expression of genes involved in neurogenesis are impaired in IVC prenatal brain (qPCR). mRNA expression of Gabra1, Cntnap2, Mapk3 in prenatal brain homogenates. Values are depicted as mRNA abundance relative to housekeeping gene eEF2. Student-t test, mean \pm SEM * < 0.05 ** p < 0.01.

III.V Prenatal brain morphology

IVC prenatal brain is characterised by altered morphology indicative of inflammation.

In order to investigate the consequences of increased lipid peroxidation and altered lipid metabolism, the inflammation state of prenatal brain was evaluated. Histology of IVC prenatal brain was analysed, particularly Medulla Oblongata (MO), Hypothalamus (HT), and neopallial cortex (NPC).

IVC prenatal brain showed altered MO structure characterised by increased presence of high diameter vacuoles, high presence of vacuole/spongiforms (Fig 20A), and distinctive signs of brain swelling/inflammation which were confirmed by elevated levels of Cox2 (Cyclooxygenase-2) expression (Fig. 20B), the main regulator of PGE2 (Prostaglandin-E₂) synthesis and inflammatory processes.



Figure 20: Altered morphology indicating inflammation in IVC prenatal brain. A. Representative images of foetuses from IVC group showing signs of swelling/inflammation and brain injury; and normal morphology of NM foetus (scale bar 1mm). MO: Medulla Oblongata; HT: hypothalamus; NPC: neopallial cortex. On the top right of the panel is a detail of medulla oblonga (MO), scale bar 100um; bottom right is higher magnification MO (scale bar 50um). MO from IVC group shows disarrangement and high presence of vacuoles/spongiform (star) Histograms show decreased head size; elevated proportion of vacuoles and higher vacuole diameter in IVC brains. Mean \pm SEM; Student's t test, * p< 0.05, ** p< 0.01. n samples =3. **B.** mRNA expression of Cox2 (in prenatal brain homogenates. Values are depicted as mRNA abundance relative to housekeeping gene eEF2. Student-t test, mean \pm SEM * < 0.05 ** p < 0.01.

Chapter IV. Altered lipid profile and lipid peroxidation in ART embryos and oocytes.

IV.I Lipid profile in embryos after IVC

Altered lipid profile of IVC embryos showing increased lipid droplets (LDs) size, sign of LDs peroxidation.

To examine the source of the observed changes in lipid peroxidation and compositional alterations in the IVC prenatal brain, we analysed the LDs profile of IVC embryos.

Since the IVC embryos were transferred to healthy and young females, we can reasonably exclude the maternal side as cause of lipid damage in the prenatal brain. Therefore, it is likely that the origin of the lipid damage in the prenatal brain occurred prior to implantation (i.e. an embryonic origin).

IVC embryos were analysed by Coherent Anti-Stokes Raman Spectroscopy (CARs).

Embryos after *in vitro* culture (IVC) showed bigger lipid droplets mean size (clustering) and higher amount of LDs in the biggest size detectable by CARs (7.5-10.0 μ m² and 10.0-100.0 μ m²) compared to embryos in vivo produced (ET, and NM) (Fig. 21A-B). Moreover, IVC embryos have lower amount of LDs in the smallest size (0-0-250 μ m²) than ET and IVC group (Fig.21B).



📕 0-0.250 (μm²] 🔲 0.250-0.500 (μm²] 📕 0.5-1.0 (μm²] 🥅 1.0-3.0 (μm²] 🥅 3.0-4.286 (μm²] 🛄 4.286-7.5 (μm²] 🥅 7.5-10.0 (μm²] 🥅 10.0-100.0 (μm²]



Fig. 21: LDs profile is altered in IVC embryos. Coherent anti-Stokes Raman spectroscopy (CARs)-mouse blastocyst. A. (Representative images of IVC, ET, and NM embryos CARs images, n samples IVC=12, ET=6, NM=15.Legend below the images indicates the colours associated with each LDs size; Scale bar 50 μ m. B.CARs LDs size analysis. Graphs show mean LDs size, percentage of LDs in 7.5-10.0 μ m² size, percentage of LDs in 10.0-100.0 μ m² size, and percentage of lipids 0.0-0.250 μ m² size. Mean ± SEM, ANOVA- Kruskal Wallis test multiple comparison, ** p< 0.01 *** p< 0.001 **** p< 0.0001. n samples IVC=12, ET=6, NM=15

IV.II LDs profile of AMA oocytes and embryos

LDs profile of AMA oocytes is also altered and shows similar LDs clustering in mouse model and human.

In order to elucidate the origin of increased risk of neurodevelopmental disorders (NDD) in the offspring that are associated with both ART and AMA (which is also frequently linked with ART), AMA oocytes and embryos from mouse and human model were analysed.

CARs analysis revealed that mouse AMA oocytes are characterised by agglomeration of lipids evidenced by large LDs droplets ($10.0 - 100.0\mu m^2$). Indeed, AMA oocytes have higher amount of LDs in the biggest size detectable by CARs ($10.0 - 100.0\mu m^2$) in comparison to CTR group (oocytes from mouse young donors) (Fig. 22.A). Interestingly, a similar LDs profile was shown by oocytes after OS treatment (+ OS) (Fig.22B)

Similarly, in human – which is the mammalian species with the least amount of LDs – lipid droplet clustering occurs with advancement of age. Oocytes from donors of 3 different age groups – 19-23, 25-28, and 30-33 years old (Y) – were analysed by CARs. Oocytes from 30-33 Y and 25-28 Y had higher lipid total area and higher lipids mean size than oocytes from younger donors (19-23 Y) (Fig.22 C-D). Moreover, 30-33 Y and 25-28 Y oocytes showed higher LDs amount in the size of $1.0-3.0\mu$ m² in comparison to 19-23 Y oocytes. $1.0-3.0\mu$ m² LDs constitute the biggest LDs size represented in human (Fig.22 C); although a very low fraction (0.5-1.0%) of even larger size LDs – $3.0-4.286\mu$ m², and $4.286-7.5\mu$ m² – have also been found in some human oocytes. Additionally, phospholipids structure changes, and lipid peroxidation is increased in 30-33 Y group (Fig.22D).

Relevantly, this altered LDs profile in AMA oocytes is maintained in embryos (Fig.22E). LDs have been labelled with Nile Red and BODIPY, and the analysis revealed that AMA blastocysts have higher amount of LDs than control (Fig.22E).







🛑 0-0.250 [μm²] 💼 0.250-0.500 [μm²] 💼 0.5-1.0 [μm²] 🛄 1.0-3.0 [μm²] 🛄 3.0-4.286 [μm²] 🥅 4.286-7.5 [μm²]











phospholipids (~1080cm⁻¹, ~1250cm⁻¹)- green bracket, amide III (~1300cm⁻¹) amide II (~1550cm⁻¹), amide I vibrations (1650cm⁻¹) - red bracket and lipids functional groups (2700cm⁻¹ and 3000cm⁻¹)- black bracket increases as age advances *p<0.05, mean \pm SD of the mean, n samples \leq 16; ANOVA, Kruskal-Wallis, Tukey's *post hoc*. Moreover, phospholipids structural changes in oocytes from donors > 23 years of age are indicated by the modification of peaks relative to phospholipids (green bracket). **E. LD profile in mouse embryos.** The panel shows representative images of oocytes from AMA and CTR, stained with Nile Red, BODIPY 493/503, and in Bright Field scale bar 50µm, n= number of samples. The graphs show mean grey values of Nile Red and BODIPY, Mean \pm SEM, t-Student test, *** p< 0.00. n samples, AMA=17, CTR=20.

4. DISCUSSION

Assisted Reproductive Technologies (ART) have become increasingly common over the past few decades, providing the solution for the fertility problems that millions of couples are facing worldwide. The results of the extensive use of ART is more than 8 million babies born, of which more than 2 million in Europe alone (Gliozheni et al. 2022).

The use of ART is often connected with advanced maternal age (AMA), as it is one of the main reasons of reduced fertility, especially nowadays due to the postponement of childbearing. ART and AMA have been often associated with higher risk of neurodevelopmental disorders (NDD) in the offspring. Numerous studies have investigated this relationship, but not only have the findings been somewhat controversial and inconclusive, but also it remains unclear whether the higher risk of developing NND originates from the ART process itself, or from underlying factors such as parental subfertility.

In this study, we hypothesised that embryo modifications caused by ART procedures are associated with an increased risk of neurodevelopmental afflictions.

To this end we first investigated ART-induced neurodevelopmental alterations and their intergenerational transmissibility, and then explored the origin of revealed neurodevelopmental traits in embryos and offspring.

4.1 Effect of *in vitro* culture of embryos on offspring behaviour and development.

The main findings of this chapter are related to the effect of *in vitro* culture of embryos on offspring development as well as social and anxiety-like behaviour.
Our results proved that offspring generated by ART exhibits social deficits and decreased social motivation, as evidenced by reduced social interaction time and social preference index. Moreover, ART offspring showed decreased social motivation and novelty-seeking behaviour, as suggested by reduced time spent with the novel stimuli during social recognition test. These findings suggest that the *in vitro* culture procedures used to generate IVC males may lead to deficits in social behaviour and motivation which are a core symptom of NND and a widely recognised characteristic of ASD phenotype (Moy et al. 2004, 2007). Additionally, ART offspring did not show any sign of anxiety-related behaviour, which have been previously linked with NND in several studies, particularly with ASD (van Steensel, Bögels, and Perrin 2011). However, the absence of anxiety-like behaviour may also suggest that ART males display highly selective behavioural abnormalities which model the defining symptoms of autism (McFarlane et al. 2008), or simply that anxiety-like behaviour is shown later in life as described by Qin et al. which showed that increased anxiety is more frequent in aged male offspring (18 months old) conceived by IVF than in young male offspring (3 months old) (Qin et al. 2021b).

Our results also indicate that the use of ART not only negatively affects the offspring sociability but also impairs the growth curve during pre-weaning period in both females and males, leading to increased bodyweight in adulthood. Indeed, IVC males and females presented increased bodyweight during all pre-weaning time, which persists during adulthood. Previous studies have exclusively associated ART to reduced bodyweight at birth and during childhood in humans (Chang et al. 2020; Kondapalli and Perales-Puchalt 2013; McDonald et al. 2010); while in ruminants famously is documented increased bodyweight in offspring conceived by ART, the so called "large offspring syndrome" (Chen et al. 2013; Young, Sinclair, and Wilmut 1998). In mouse model, increased bodyweight has been reported in male and female offspring born after IVF (Feuer et al. 2014), and it has been associated with impaired glucose tolerance in IVF male (but not female) offspring (Donjacour et al. 2014). Additionally, it is known that perturbed growth during early stage of life has significant implications for bodyweight and overall development in adulthood (Leunissen, Stijnen, and Hokken-Koelega 2009; Stettler and Iotova 2010). Moreover, ART procedures often require *in vitro* manipulations of gametes or embryos in critical preimplantation period, in which embryos are highly sensitive and experience developmental plasticity; this may alter the embryonic developmental trajectory and can exert a long-lasting influence on health leading to adult-onset chronic diseases, according to the 'developmental origins of adult disease' (DOHaD) hypothesis (Barker 2004). Thus, the increased bodyweight of IVC offspring may be linked to ART, and therefore to the incidence of neurodevelopmental disorders which are highly over-expressed in children with obesity (Wentz, Björk, and Dahlgren 2017).

Additionally, the exposure of IVC embryos to supraphysiological ART-induced OS (Agarwal et al. 2022) may also have an influence on embryo development and implantation (Bedaiwy et al. 2004). Indeed, our results showed that IVC embryos have lower survival than naturally-conceived ones resulting in fewer embryos developed to term/alive pups. It is commonly estimated in mice that an average of 7 embryos per estrous cycle develops and can be recovered at day 4 from a range of 1 to 12 fertilised oocytes after natural mating (Nagy, A., Gertsenstein, M., Behringer, R. R., & Vintersten 2003). Even when for ET and IVC groups the number of embryos transferred were doubled in comparison to naturally-conceived cycle, the survival of ET and IVC embryos is evidently decreased in comparison to NM embryos. Indeed, ET litter sizes vary from 1 to 8 with an average of 3.2, similarly IVC litter size vary from 1 to 7 with an average of 3.7, while NM litter size ranges from 4 to 10 with an average of 7.8, as is commonly reported for C57BL/6 strain (Lee M. Silver 1995). Our results indicate that even the least invasive ART procedures (e.g. embryo transfer) can negatively impact the survival and development to term of embryos either *in vivo* (ET) or *in vitro* (IVC) produced. And at this

early developmental stage, the combination of IVC and embryo transfer doesn't exacerbate the effect of ET (no difference between ET and IVC offspring rate and litter size), but this doesn't exclude possibly differentiated impact in later development – but not on offspring survival and fertility which appeared to be comparable to control. Additionally, the survival of IVC offspring is in line with C57BL/6 strain mortality which ranges from a minimum of 10% (Gaskill et al. 2013) to a maximum of 49% (Inglis et al. 2014), and also the fertility was not impaired as after mating of females and males born by ART, the pregnancy rate resulted similarly to control. In humans, however, it has been demonstrated that progeny born after ART exhibit impaired infertility (Belva et al. 2017). It is important to underline that ART-conceived children in human studies are born from sub-fertile parents while the ART offspring in this study was born from young, fertile parents and only received stress IVC-induced during their development.

Taken together, our results suggest that *in vitro* culture of embryos reduce embryo survival leading to small litter size, negatively impact offspring development resulting in increased bodyweight from pre-weaning to adulthood, and leads later in life to neurodevelopmental disorders characterised by reduced sociability and novelty.

4.2 Intergenerational transmission of ART effects and effects of crossbreeding ART progenies

The findings of this chapter are related to the intergenerational transmissibility of ART-induced effects.

Our data show that progeny born from ART-conceived parents (IVC) exhibit increased mortality. Particularly, offspring born from crossing of IVC females and IVC males showed the highest mortality from PND-2 to week 6 reaching only 24.39% of survival at week 6 with

only 10 pups alive out of 41 born. IVC male and female line showed lower survival between week-5, and week-6 of age in which the survival rate was 33.33% for IVC male line and 50% for IVC female line.

5-6 weeks is a critical time of development in mice as several important physiological process are still ongoing. Specifically, hormonal changes and immune system development occur in mouse at this age together with organ development and maturation. Importantly, the hypothalamus-pituitary-gonadal axis becomes more and more active during development, regulating hormonal balance (Fu et al. 2013). Additionally, the immune system continues to develop and mature which is crucial for preventing infections and diseases (Ghia et al. 1998; Holladay and Smialowicz 2000). Impairments in the above described mechanisms could lead to elevated risk of death. The cause of elevated mortality in II generation born from IVC parents was not investigated and remains vague, although these data have high relevance and raise important concerns regarding the possible health status of children to be born in the near future from ART-conceived parents. These concerns are magnified by the intergenerational transmissibility of impaired social behaviour showed in this study. Indeed, second generation males born from IVC male line and female line showed impaired social recognition memory and reduced motivation for novelty, as they displayed altered behaviour to control group animals in that they did not prefer the novel object over the familiar one and they spent shorter time with the novel object. Moreover, male offspring from IVC female line showed increased levels of anxiety like-behaviour and "risk taking" phenotype. Indeed, the latency time to cross from the dark box to light one was reduced in comparison to control which may indicated lack of fear for exploring; more importantly, the time spent in the light box is increased in IVC female line indicating that the animals are less willing to explore the dark, enclosed space and natural condition, which can be interpreted as an indication of higher levels of anxiety-like behaviour (Bourin and Hascoët 2003b; Crawley 1985).

Similar traits in social impairments were also shown in the I generation IVC which may indicate intergenerational transmission of IVC effect through female and male line.

It is important to note that the IVC cross line did not show any impairments in social behaviour or novelty preference. However, we should consider that the animals were tested at 8-9 weeks of age, and behavioural phenotypes may be expressed differently across their life span (Brust, Schindler, and Lewejohann 2015). It is possible that these mice may exhibit altered behavioural profiles later in life, as certain brain regions continue to develop throughout the lifespan (Andersen and Teicher 2004). Alternatively, it is also possible that the IVC cross line mice do not show phenotypes of neurodevelopmental disorders but may possess genetic modifications related to such disorders, which could be manifested and visible in the next generation.

Similarly, the survived II generation ART offspring didn't show any growth perturbation in pre-weaning period, meaning the increased bodyweight from I generation was not inherited. Majority of disorders associated with increased bodyweight can be transmitted from either the maternal or paternal side to the next generation, and it is less common for these disorders to manifest in the third generation of offspring without affecting the second generation. However, there are a few examples where certain metabolic conditions have been shown to exhibit the so called 'delayed transgenerational' effect. For instance, it has been shown that exposure to a high-fat diet during pregnancy and lactation resulted in the development of metabolic syndrome-like features in the second generation of female offspring, but more pronounced metabolic abnormalities were observed in the third generation of female offspring, suggesting a delayed impact on bodyweight regulation (Dunn and Bale 2011). Similarly, paternally-induced transgenerational inheritance can also show a delayed transgenerational effect; researchers found also that male mice exposed to a HFD exhibited impaired glucose metabolism and increased bodyweight. Surprisingly, these metabolic disturbances were not evident in the first- or second-generation offspring. However, the third-generation male

offspring showed altered glucose tolerance and increased bodyweight (Wei et al. 2014). Therefore, the lack of any growth perturbation in second IVC generation could then suggest a delayed transgenerational effect.

Our study showed that there is an intergenerational transmission of ART effects evident particularly in the high mortality of II generation progeny born from crossing IVC males and females, and then similarly in II generation born from both IVC males and IVC females. Moreover, decreased social behaviour is a transgenerational ART effect as it is also shown in II generation born from IVC males and females, and additionally we also observed increased anxiety-like behaviour in offspring born from IVC females. The mechanism of transmission of reduced sociability and novelty are not yet investigated, and the causes of mortality remain still elusive. Only a few transgenerational studies on animal models have been done so far: most notably reporting possible transmissibility of IVF-induced aberrant methylation patterns to the subsequent generations in mouse (Li et al. 2011); or long-term transgenerational effects of weakened zinc and fatty acid metabolism associated with alterations in hepatic metabolism of rabbits born after cryopreservation-transfer (Garcia-Dominguez et al. 2020). Similar research on transgenerational effect of ART in humans is limited as the oldest cohort of ART-conceived humans are still in their 30s and 40s.

The data presented is of high relevance in the research field considering the lack of transgenerational studies; moreover, the presented research highlights the importance of carrying out animal studies to investigate possible outcomes and raise awareness on the potential health status of children who will be born in the near future from parents who are themselves ART-conceived.

4.3 Brain alterations in ART offspring and, foetuses collected at late pregnancy.

The findings of this chapter are related to the brain alterations in ART offspring at different developmental stage, adult and prenatal.

Our results showed altered antioxidant activity in Hypothalamus and Hippocampus of adult IVC males, indicated respectively by increased oxidative stress and elevated lipid peroxidation byproducts in Hypothalamus and by differently expressed proteins involved in pathways of oxidative stress and neurological diseases in Hippocampus.

The brain is particularly vulnerable to oxidative stress for several reasons, particularly for its modest antioxidant defence and its lipid-rich constitution (Lee, Cha, and Lee 2020). There is evidence that alterations in oxidative stress as well as in lipid peroxidation are linked with impairment in sociability and anxiety-like behaviour in mice, and as well as connected to neurodegenerative disorders in mouse, rats, and human (Halliwell 2006; Patki et al. 2013; Rammal et al. 2008; Rossignol and Frye 2014). Hypothalamus and Hippocampus are brain structures highly involved in social behaviour regulation (Alexander et al., 2016; Lo et al., 2019). Our results suggest that IVC causes alterations in adult hypothalamic and hippocampal oxidative state leading to impairments in social behaviour.

Similarly, in IVC offspring prenatal brain OS levels and consequent lipid peroxidation activity were considerably increased, as indicated by higher levels of GSH, GSSG, SOD activity, as well as MDA. We also demonstrated decreased mRNA expression of HMOX1 (Heme Oxygenase 1), a key component of the cellular antioxidant defence system, and reduced mRNA expression of PPAR- α (Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha), a regulator of antioxidative processes and an essential element in fatty acid transport and lipid metabolism. Moreover, IVC prenatal brain showed decreased expression of GABRA1 Cntnap2, MapK3: genes involved in crucial steps of neurogenesis.

During prenatal brain development, OS can disrupt critical processes such as neurogenesis, synaptogenesis, and myelination. This can result in altered connectivity and impaired functional development of brain regions leading to neurodevelopmental disorders in adulthood (Lanté et al. 2007). The antioxidant defence system plays an important role in neuroprotection in the prenatal and neonatal brain. It has been reported that PPAR- α agonists have well-documented anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective roles in the central nervous system. PPAR- α downregulation has been associated with decreased anti-oxidative and anti-inflammatory processes and alterations of fatty acid transport, lipid metabolism and disturbances of mitochondrial function in the brain of AD patients (Wójtowicz et al. 2020).

Our results showed increased OS level, decreased antioxidant defence, and reduced expression of genes involved in crucial steps of neurogenesis. These results taken together may suggest that IVC causes OS-induced damage in prenatal brain, which is conserved in adult brain and may be the base of revealed neurodevelopmental traits in offspring.

4.4 Altered lipid profile and lipid peroxidation in ART embryos and oocytes.

The findings of this chapter are related to ART-induced alteration in embryos, and the base of revealed neurodevelopmental traits in the offspring.

Our results show that lipid profile of IVC embryos is altered, clearly evidenced by increased LDs size (LD clustering). Relevantly, similar LD profiles were found in AMA oocytes (mouse and human) and this alteration is preserved in mouse AMA embryos.

During ART procedures embryos are subjected to non-physiological exposure to oxidative stress (Agarwal et al. 2006; Goto et al. 1993) which induces lipid peroxidation though reaction of ROS with lipids generating highly electrophilic aldehydes (MDA and 4-HNE). This process has been suggested as a potential mechanism by which ROS can inflict damage in the ageing oocyte (Mihalas et al. 2017). Lipid peroxidation byproducts can interact with proteins and DNA creating adducts and leading to oxidative stress-induced aneuploidy, as occurs in oocytes from aged mice (Mihalas et al. 2018). Lipids are not utilised by embryos during the preimplantation time but they are crucial for embryo survival during post-implantation time (Arena et al. 2021). Before placental nursing via the bloodstream starts, the LDs contained in the embryos are the only source of lipids during prenatal development. Without the supply of new building blocks for lipid bilayers, any embryonic damage - nuclear or cytoplasmic cannot be repaired. This explains why the likelihood of aberrances in early-developing central nervous system and heart is higher than for organs which develop later on, once fresh maternal resources can be delivered to the embryo through placental bloodstream. The altered LDs profile constituted by oxidised lipids will likely not properly support the development of IVC prenatal brain, suggesting that OS-induced alteration in embryos may be the cause of impaired prenatal brain development and have long-term health consequences.

Additionally, considering that lipid peroxidation can also cause epigenetic reprogramming (Legoff et al. 2021) and inadequate histone deacetylation through lipid-derived acetyl-CoA – which causes aneuploidy in mice oocytes (Akiyama et al., 2006) – our results may indicate that oxidative damage of lipids increases the risk of genetic instability leading to DNA modifications in IVC embryos, as they do in AMA. Thus, OS-driven lipid modifications in IVC embryos may be the origin of revealed neurodevelopmental traits in offspring.

5. Final Conclusions

The step by-step analysis of ART effects from embryonic-stage to adulthood, and their intergenerational transmissibility presented in this thesis allows a better understanding of NND etiology. The main findings of study are:

- In vitro culture has a detrimental effect on offspring behaviour resulting in reduced sociability and novelty; has a negative effect on offspring development causing increase in bodyweight from pre-weaning to adulthood; and furthermore causes reduced embryo survival leading to small litter size.
- 2) Crossbreeding of ART-conceived parents leads to high progeny mortality; and relevantly, ART effects are intergenerationally transmitted as reduced sociability in adult male mice in the first ART generation and then later in II generation born from ART mothers and ART fathers.
- 3) ART prenatal brain development is impaired due to increased oxidative stress, elevated lipid peroxidation, and reduced expression of genes associated with neurogenesis which might cause changes in brain functionality and connectivity. Furthermore, these impairments persist until adulthood.
- 4) IVC-induced OS alters the LD profile of IVC embryos, causing impaired prenatal brain development and altered adult brain function which results in decreased sociability in the adult male offspring later in life. Likewise, ageing-induced OS alters the LD profile of AMA oocytes and embryos leading to higher risk of NDD in the offspring.

These findings enhance our understanding on the causes of neurodevelopmental disorders and more importantly paves the way for further exploration through lipidomic studies to identify the specific mechanisms that contribute to NDD, thereby expanding the scientific frontiers in this field.

6. References

- Ackerman, Sean, Julia Wenegrat, David Rettew, Robert Althoff, and Raphael Bernier. 2014.
 'No Increase in Autism-Associated Genetic Events in Children Conceived by Assisted Reproduction'. *Fertility and Sterility* 102(2):388–93. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2014.04.020.
- Adibhatla, Rao Muralikrishna, and J. F. Hatcher. 2008. 'Altered Lipid Metabolism in Brain Injury and Disorders'. *Sub-Cellular Biochemistry* 49:241. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4020-8831-5_9.
- Agarwal, Ashok, Israel Maldonado Rosas, Christina Anagnostopoulou, Rossella Cannarella, Florence Boitrelle, Lina Villar Munoz, Renata Finelli, Damayanthi Durairajanayagam, Ralf Henkel, and Ramadan Saleh. 2022. 'Oxidative Stress and Assisted Reproduction: A Comprehensive Review of Its Pathophysiological Role and Strategies for Optimizing Embryo Culture Environment'. *Antioxidants* 11(3). doi: 10.3390/antiox11030477.
- Agarwal, Ashok, Tamer M. Said, Mohamed A. Bedaiwy, Jashoman Banerjee, and Juan G. Alvarez. 2006. 'Oxidative Stress in an Assisted Reproductive Techniques Setting'. *Fertility and Sterility* 86(3):503–12. doi: 10.1016/J.FERTNSTERT.2006.02.088.
- Akiyama, Tomohiko, Masao Nagata, and Fugaku Aoki. 2006. 'Inadequate Histone Deacetylation during Oocyte Meiosis Causes Aneuploidy and Embryo Death in Mice'. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 103(19):7339–44. doi: 10.1073/PNAS.0510946103.
- Alexander, Georgia M., Shannon Farris, Jason R. Pirone, Chenguang Zheng, Laura L. Colgin, and Serena M. Dudek. 2016. 'Social and Novel Contexts Modify Hippocampal CA2 Representations of Space'. *Nature Communications* 7. doi: 10.1038/NCOMMS10300.
- Altman, Joseph, and Shirley A. Bayer. 1990. 'Migration and Distribution of Two Populations of Hippocampal Granule Cell Precursors during the Perinatal and Postnatal Periods'. *Journal of Comparative Neurology* 301(3):365–81. doi: 10.1002/CNE.903010304.
- Andersen, A. Nyboe, V. Goossens, A. P. Ferraretti, S. Bhattacharya, R. Felberbaum, J. de Mouzon, and K. G. Nygren. 2008. 'Assisted Reproductive Technology in Europe, 2004: Results Generated from European Registers by ESHRE.' *Human Reproduction (Oxford, England)* 23(4):756–71. doi: 10.1093/humrep/den014.
- Andersen, Susan L., and Martin H. Teicher. 2004. 'Delayed Effects of Early Stress on Hippocampal Development'. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 2004 29:11 29(11):1988–93. doi: 10.1038/sj.npp.1300528.
- Arena, Roberta, Simona Bisogno, Łukasz Gąsior, Joanna Rudnicka, Laura Bernhardt, Thomas Haaf, Federica Zacchini, Michał Bochenek, Kinga Fic, Ewelina Bik, Małgorzata Barańska, Anna Bodzoń-Kułakowska, Piotr Suder, Joanna Depciuch, Artur Gurgul, Zbigniew Polański, and Grażyna E. Ptak. 2021. 'Lipid Droplets in Mammalian Eggs Are Utilized during Embryonic Diapause.' *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* of the United States of America 118(10). doi: 10.1073/pnas.2018362118.

- Banker, Sarah M., Xiaosi Gu, Daniela Schiller, and Jennifer H. Foss-Feig. 2021. 'Hippocampal Contributions to Social and Cognitive Deficits in Autism Spectrum Disorder'. *Trends in Neurosciences* 44(10):793–807. doi: 10.1016/J.TINS.2021.08.005.
- Barber, Casey N., and Daniel M. Raben. 2019. 'Lipid Metabolism Crosstalk in the Brain: Glia and Neurons'. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience* 13:212. doi: 10.3389/FNCEL.2019.00212.
- Barberet, Julie, Bastien Ducreux, Magali Guilleman, Emmanuel Simon, Céline Bruno, and Patricia Fauque. 2022. 'DNA Methylation Profiles after ART during Human Lifespan: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis'. *Human Reproduction Update* 28(5):629–55. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmac010.
- Barker, DJP. 2004. 'The Developmental Origins of Chronic Adult Disease'. Acta Paediatrica (Oslo, Norway: 1992). Supplement 93(446):26–33. doi: 10.1111/J.1651-2227.2004.TB00236.X.
- Basso, Olga, and Donna D. Baird. 2003. 'Infertility and Preterm Delivery, Birthweight, and Caesarean Section: A Study within the Danish National Birth Cohort'. *Human Reproduction (Oxford, England)* 18(11):2478–84. doi: 10.1093/HUMREP/DEG444.
- Bazan, Nicolas G. 2003. 'Synaptic Lipid Signaling: Significance of Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids and Platelet-Activating Factor'. *Journal of Lipid Research* 44(12):2221–33. doi: 10.1194/JLR.R300013-JLR200.
- Bazinet, Richard P., and Sophie Layé. 2014. 'Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids and Their Metabolites in Brain Function and Disease'. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience 2014 15:12* 15(12):771–85. doi: 10.1038/nrn3820.
- Bear, Matthew H., Vamsi Reddy, and Pradeep C. Bollu. 2022. 'Neuroanatomy, Hypothalamus'. *StatPearls*.
- Bedaiwy, Mohamed A., Tommaso Falcone, Maher S. Mohamed, Abdel A. N. Aleem, Rakesh K. Sharma, Sarah E. Worley, Julie Thornton, and Ashok Agarwal. 2004. 'Differential Growth of Human Embryos in Vitro: Role of Reactive Oxygen Species'. *Fertility and Sterility* 82(3):593–600. doi: 10.1016/J.FERTNSTERT.2004.02.121.
- Le Belle, Janel E., Jantzen Sperry, Amy Ngo, Yasmin Ghochani, Dan R. Laks, Manuel López-Aranda, Alcino J. Silva, and Harley I. Kornblum. 2014. 'Maternal Inflammation Contributes to Brain Overgrowth and Autism-Associated Behaviors through Altered Redox Signaling in Stem and Progenitor Cells'. *Stem Cell Reports* 3(5):725–34. doi: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2014.09.004.
- Belva, Florence, Mathieu Roelants, Jean De Schepper, André Van Steirteghem, Herman Tournaye, and Maryse Bonduelle. 2017. 'Reproductive Hormones of ICSI-Conceived Young Adult Men: The First Results'. *Human Reproduction (Oxford, England)* 32(2):439–46. doi: 10.1093/HUMREP/DEW324.
- Berntsen, Sine, Viveca Söderström-Anttila, Ulla Britt Wennerholm, Hannele Laivuori, Anne Loft, Nan B. Oldereid, Liv Bente Romundstad, Christina Bergh, and Anja Pinborg. 2019.
 'The Health of Children Conceived by ART: "The Chicken or the Egg?" *Human Reproduction Update* 25(2):137–58. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmz001.

- Bisogno, Simona, Łukasz Gąsior, and Grażyna E. Ptak. 2023. 'Nile Red and BODIPY Staining of Lipid Droplets in Mouse Oocytes and Embryos'. *Methods in Molecular Biology* 2566:205–12. doi: 10.1007/978-1-0716-2675-7_16/COVER.
- Borroni, María Virginia, Ana Sofía Vallés, and Francisco J. Barrantes. 2016. 'The Lipid Habitats of Neurotransmitter Receptors in Brain'. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1858(11):2662–70. doi: 10.1016/J.BBAMEM.2016.07.005.
- Bourin, Michel, and Martine Hascoët. 2003a. 'The Mouse Light/Dark Box Test'. *European Journal of Pharmacology* 463(1–3):55–65. doi: 10.1016/S0014-2999(03)01274-3.
- Bourin, Michel, and Martine Hascoët. 2003b. 'The Mouse Light/Dark Box Test'. *European Journal of Pharmacology* 463(1–3):55–65. doi: 10.1016/S0014-2999(03)01274-3.
- Brust, Vera, Philipp M. Schindler, and Lars Lewejohann. 2015. 'Lifetime Development of Behavioural Phenotype in the House Mouse (Mus Musculus)'. *Frontiers in Zoology* 12(1):1–14. doi: 10.1186/1742-9994-12-S1-S17/FIGURES/4.
- Bush, K. T., H. Lee, and R. G. Nagele. 1992. 'Lipid Droplets of Neuroepithelial Cells Are a Major Calcium Storage Site during Neural Tube Formation in Chick and Mouse Embryos'. *Experientia* 48(5):516–19. doi: 10.1007/BF01928178.
- Cannarella, Rossella, Andrea Crafa, Laura M. Mongioì, Loredana Leggio, Nunzio Iraci, Sandro La Vignera, Rosita A. Condorelli, and Aldo E. Calogero. 2022. 'DNA Methylation in Offspring Conceived after Assisted Reproductive Techniques: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis'. *Journal of Clinical Medicine* 11(17). doi: 10.3390/jcm11175056.
- Cardiff, Robert D., Claramae H. Miller, and Robert J. Munn. 2014. 'Manual Hematoxylin and Eosin Staining of Mouse Tissue Sections'. *Cold Spring Harbor Protocols* 2014(6):655– 58. doi: 10.1101/PDB.PROT073411.
- Caria, Andrea, Luciana Ciringione, and Simona de Falco. 2020. 'Morphofunctional Alterations of the Hypothalamus and Social Behavior in Autism Spectrum Disorders'. *Brain Sciences* 10(7):1–18. doi: 10.3390/BRAINSCI10070435.
- Chang, Aimee S., Kelle H. Moley, Michael Wangler, Andrew P. Feinberg, and Michael R. DeBaun. 2005. 'Association between Beckwith-Wiedemann Syndrome and Assisted Reproductive Technology: A Case Series of 19 Patients'. *Fertility and Sterility* 83(2):349. doi: 10.1016/J.FERTNSTERT.2004.07.964.
- Chang, Heng Yu, Wuh Liang Hwu, Ching Hui Chen, Chun Yin Hou, and Wei Cheng. 2020.
 'Children Conceived by Assisted Reproductive Technology Prone to Low Birth Weight, Preterm Birth, and Birth Defects: A Cohort Review of More Than 50,000 Live Births During 2011–2017 in Taiwan'. *Frontiers in Pediatrics* 8:87. doi: 10.3389/FPED.2020.00087/FULL.
- Charvet, Christine J., and Barbara L. Finlay. 2018. 'Comparing Adult Hippocampal Neurogenesis across Species: Translating Time to Predict the Tempo in Humans'. *Frontiers in Neuroscience* 12(OCT):706. doi: 10.3389/FNINS.2018.00706/BIBTEX.
- Chen, Vivian S., James P. Morrison, Myra F. Southwell, Julie F. Foley, Brad Bolon, and Susan A. Elmore. 2017. 'Histology Atlas of the Developing Prenatal and Postnatal Mouse

Central Nervous System, with Emphasis on Prenatal Days E7.5 to E18.5'. *Toxicologic Pathology* 45(6):705. doi: 10.1177/0192623317728134.

- Chen, Zhiyuan, Darren E. Hagen, Christine G. Elsik, Tieming Ji, Collin James Morris, Laura Emily Moon, and Rocío Melissa Rivera. 2015. 'Characterization of Global Loss of Imprinting in Fetal Overgrowth Syndrome Induced by Assisted Reproduction'. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 112(15):4618–23. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1422088112.
- Chen, Zhiyuan, Katherine Marie Robbins, Kevin Dale Wells, and Rocío Melissa Rivera. 2013.
 'Large Offspring Syndrome: A Bovine Model for the Human Loss-of-Imprinting Overgrowth Syndrome Beckwith-Wiedemann'. *Epigenetics* 8(6):591–601. doi: 10.4161/EPI.24655/SUPPL_FILE/KEPI_A_10924655_SM0001.ZIP.
- Clark, Robert E., and Larry R. Squirea. 2013. 'Similarity in Form and Function of the Hippocampus in Rodents, Monkeys, and Humans'. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 110(Suppl 2):10365. doi: 10.1073/PNAS.1301225110.
- Clarkson, Jasmine M., Jessica E. Martin, and Dorothy E. F. McKeegan. 2022. 'A Review of Methods Used to Kill Laboratory Rodents: Issues And'. *Laboratory Animals* 56(5):419. doi: 10.1177/00236772221097472.
- Cloarec, R., B. Riffault, A. Dufour, H. Rabiei, L. A. Gouty-Colomer, C. Dumon, D. Guimond, P. Bonifazi, S. Eftekhari, N. Lozovaya, D. C. Ferrari, and Y. Ben-Ari. 2019. 'Pyramidal Neuron Growth and Increased Hippocampal Volume during Labor and Birth in Autism'. *Science Advances* 5(1):394–417. doi: 10.1126/SCIADV.AAV0394/SUPPL_FILE/AAV0394_SM.PDF.
- Combelles, Catherine M. H., Sajal Gupta, and Ashok Agarwal. 2009. 'Could Oxidative Stress Influence the In-Vitro Maturation of Oocytes?' *Reproductive BioMedicine Online* 18(6):864–80. doi: 10.1016/S1472-6483(10)60038-7.
- Copp, Andrew J. 2005. 'Neurulation in the Cranial Region Normal and Abnormal'. *Journal* of Anatomy 207(5):623. doi: 10.1111/J.1469-7580.2005.00476.X.
- Cox, Jürgen, Nadin Neuhauser, Annette Michalski, Richard A. Scheltema, Jesper V. Olsen, and Matthias Mann. 2011. 'Andromeda: A Peptide Search Engine Integrated into the MaxQuant Environment'. *Journal of Proteome Research* 10(4):1794–1805. doi: 10.1021/PR101065J.
- Crawley, Jacqueline N. 1985. 'Exploratory Behavior Models of Anxiety in Mice'. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews* 9(1):37–44. doi: 10.1016/0149-7634(85)90030-2.
- Crawley, Jacqueline N. 2007. 'Mouse Behavioral Assays Relevant to the Symptoms of Autism'. *Brain Pathology* 17(4):448–59. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-3639.2007.00096.x.
- Cumaoğlu, Ahmet, Aslı Özge Ağkaya, and Zehra Özkul. 2019. 'Effect of the Lipid Peroxidation Product 4-Hydroxynonenal on Neuroinflammation in Microglial Cells: Protective Role of Quercetin and Monochloropivaloylquercetin'. *Turkish Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences* 16(1):54–61. doi: 10.4274/TJPS.58966.

- David, Amaral, and Lavenex Pierre. 2006. 'Hippocampal Neuroanatomy'. *The Hippocampus Book*. doi: 10.1093/ACPROF:OSO/9780195100273.003.0003.
- Detrait, Eric R., Timothy M. George, Heather C. Etchevers, John R. Gilbert, Michel Vekemans, and Marcy C. Speer. 2005. 'Human Neural Tube Defects: Developmental Biology, Epidemiology, and Genetics'. *Neurotoxicology and Teratology* 27(3):515–24. doi: 10.1016/J.NTT.2004.12.007.
- Dix, Thomas A., and John Aikens. 1993. 'Mechanisms and Biological Relevance of Lipid Peroxidation Initiation'. *Chemical Research in Toxicology* 6(1):2–18. doi: 10.1021/TX00031A001.
- Donjacour, Annemarie, Xiaowei Liu, Wingka Lin, Rhodel Simbulan, and Paolo F. Rinaudo. 2014. 'In Vitro Fertilization Affects Growth and Glucose Metabolism in a Sex-Specific Manner in an Outbred Mouse Model'. *Biology of Reproduction* 90(4):80–81. doi: 10.1095/BIOLREPROD.113.113134/2514220.
- Dunn, Gregory A., and Tracy L. Bale. 2011. 'Maternal High-Fat Diet Effects on Third-Generation Female Body Size via the Paternal Lineage'. *Endocrinology* 152(6):2228–36. doi: 10.1210/EN.2010-1461.
- Eichenbaum, Howard. 2000. 'A Cortical-Hippocampal System for Declarative Memory'. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience 2000 1:1* 1(1):41–50. doi: 10.1038/35036213.
- Eltokhi, Ahmed, Barbara Kurpiers, and Claudia Pitzer. 2020. 'Behavioral Tests Assessing Neuropsychiatric Phenotypes in Adolescent Mice Reveal Strain- and Sex-Specific Effects'. *Scientific Reports 2020 10:1* 10(1):1–15. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-67758-0.
- Ericson, A., and B. Källén. 2001. 'Congenital Malformations in Infants Born after IVF: A Population-Based Study'. *Human Reproduction (Oxford, England)* 16(3):504–9. doi: 10.1093/HUMREP/16.3.504.
- Fagone, Paolo, and Suzanne Jackowski. 2009. 'Membrane Phospholipid Synthesis and Endoplasmic Reticulum Function'. *Journal of Lipid Research* 50(Suppl):S311. doi: 10.1194/JLR.R800049-JLR200.
- Fancy, Stephen P. J., Mark R. Kotter, Emily P. Harrington, Jeffrey K. Huang, Chao Zhao, David H. Rowitch, and Robin J. M. Franklin. 2010. 'Overcoming Remyelination Failure in Multiple Sclerosis and Other Myelin Disorders'. *Experimental Neurology* 225(1):18– 23. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2009.12.020.
- Fanselow, Michael S., and Hong Wei Dong. 2010. 'Are the Dorsal and Ventral Hippocampus Functionally Distinct Structures?' *Neuron* 65(1):7–19. doi: 10.1016/J.NEURON.2009.11.031.
- Feuer, Sky K., Xiaowei Liu, Annemarie Donjacour, Wingka Lin, Rhodel K. Simbulan, Gnanaratnam Giritharan, Luisa Delle Piane, Kevin Kolahi, Kurosh Ameri, Emin Maltepe, and Paolo F. Rinaudo. 2014. 'Use of a Mouse In Vitro Fertilization Model to Understand the Developmental Origins of Health and Disease Hypothesis'. *Endocrinology* 155(5):1956. doi: 10.1210/EN.2013-2081.

- Fu, Yuhong, Zoltán Rusznák, Suzana Herculano-Houzel, Charles Watson, and George Paxinos. 2013. 'Cellular Composition Characterizing Postnatal Development and Maturation of the Mouse Brain and Spinal Cord'. *Brain Structure & Function* 218(5):1337–54. doi: 10.1007/S00429-012-0462-X.
- Garcia-Dominguez, Ximo, Francisco Marco-Jiménez, David S. Peñaranda, Gianfranco Diretto, Víctor García-Carpintero, Joaquín Cañizares, and José S. Vicente. 2020. 'Long-Term and Transgenerational Phenotypic, Transcriptional and Metabolic Effects in Rabbit Males Born Following Vitrified Embryo Transfer'. *Scientific Reports 2020 10:1* 10(1):1–15. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-68195-9.
- Garthe, Alexander, and Gerd Kempermann. 2012. 'Adult Hippocampal Neurogenesis: Functional Implications of a "New" Type of Plasticity'. *The Clinical Neurobiology of the Hippocampus:* An Integrative View. doi: 10.1093/ACPROF:OSO/9780199592388.003.0006.
- Gaskill, Brianna N., Kathleen R. Pritchett-Corning, Christopher J. Gordon, Edmond A. Pajor, Jeffrey R. Lucas, Jerry K. Davis, and Joseph P. Garner. 2013. 'Energy Reallocation to Breeding Performance through Improved Nest Building in Laboratory Mice'. *PloS One* 8(9). doi: 10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0074153.
- Gazzinga, Michael S., Richard B. Ivry, and Geoge R. Mangun. 2018. '(PDF) COGNITIVE NEUROSCIENCE THE BIOLOGY OF THE MIND Fourth Edition | Dr Pa -Academia.Edu'. W.W. Norton &Company. Retrieved 19 April 2023 (https://www.academia.edu/41956428/COGNITIVE_NEUROSCIENCE_THE_BIOLO GY_OF_THE_MIND_Fourth_Edition).
- Ghia, Paolo, Edwin Ten Boekel, Antonius G. Rolink, and Fritz Melchers. 1998. 'B-Cell Development: A Comparison between Mouse and Man'. *Immunology Today* 19(10):480– 85. doi: 10.1016/S0167-5699(98)01330-9.
- Gliozheni, Orion, Eduard Hambartsoumian, Heinz Strohmer, Elena Petrovskaya, Oleg Tishkevich, Diane de Neubourg, Kris Bogaerts, Devleta Balic, Sanja Sibincic, Irena Antonova, Hrvoje Vrcic, Dejan Ljiljak, Karel Rezabek, Jitka Markova, John Kirk, Deniss Sõritsa, Mika Gissler, Sari Pelkonen, Jacques de Mouzon, Andreas Tandler, Nikos Vrachnis, Janos Urbancsek, G. Kosztolanyi, Hilmar Bjorgvinsson, Mary Wingfield, Joyce Leyden, Giulia Scaravelli, Roberto de Luca, Vyacheslav Lokshin, Sholpan Karibayeva, Valeria Magomedova, Raminta Bausyte, Ieva Masliukaite, Caroline Schilling, Jean Calleja-Agius, Veaceslav Moshin, Tatjana Motrenko Simic, Dragana Vukicevic, Jesper M. J. Smeenk, Zoranco Petanovski, Liv Bente Romundstad, Anna Janicka, Carlos Calhaz-Jorge, Joana Maria Mesquita Guimaraes, Ana Rita Laranjeira, Ioana Rugescu, Bogdan Doroftei, Vladislav Korsak, Snezana Vidakovic, Borut Kovacic, Irene Cuevas Sáiz, Fernando Prados Mondéjar, Christina Bergh, Maya Weder, Marco Buttarelli, Mete Isikoglu, Basak Balaban, Richard Baranowski, Mykola Gryshchenko, C. Wyns, C. De Geyter, C Calhaz-Jorge, M. S. Kupka, T. Motrenko, J. Smeenk, C Bergh, A. Tandler-Schneider, I. A. Rugescu, and V. Goossens. 2022. 'ART in Europe, 2018: Results Generated from European Registries by ESHRE'. Human Reproduction Open 2022(3). doi: 10.1093/HROPEN/HOAC022.

- Goracci, G., C. Blomstrand, G. Arienti, A. Hamberger, and G. Porcellati. 1973. 'BASE-EXCHANGE ENZYMIC SYSTEM FOR THE SYNTHESIS OF PHOSPHOLIPIDS IN NEURONAL AND GLIAL CELLS AND THEIR SUBFRACTIONS: A POSSIBLE MARKER FOR NEURONAL MEMBRANES1'. Journal of Neurochemistry 20(4):1167–80. doi: 10.1111/J.1471-4159.1973.TB00086.X.
- Goto, Yasuo, Yoichi Noda, Takahide Mori, and Minoru Nakano. 1993. 'Increased Generation of Reactive Oxygen Species in Embryos Cultured in Vitro'. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 15(1):69–75. doi: 10.1016/0891-5849(93)90126-F.
- Graybiel, Ann M. 2008. 'Habits, Rituals, and the Evaluative Brain'. Annual Review of Neuroscience 31:359–87. doi: 10.1146/ANNUREV.NEURO.29.051605.112851.
- Hall, Barbara. 2016. 'The Role of Brain Lipids in the Causal Model of Autism. Re-Interpretation of the Existing Data.' *Hypothesis* 14(1). doi: 10.5779/hypothesis.v14i1.535.
- Halliwell, Barry. 2006. 'Oxidative Stress and Neurodegeneration: Where Are We Now?' *Journal of Neurochemistry* 97(6):1634–58. doi: 10.1111/J.1471-4159.2006.03907.X.
- Han, Sung, Chao Tai, Ruth E. Westenbroek, Frank H. Yu, Christine S. Cheah, Gregory B. Potter, John L. Rubenstein, Todd Scheuer, Horacio O. De La Iglesia, and William A. Catterall. 2012. 'Autistic-like Behaviour in Scn1a 1/2 Mice and Rescue by Enhanced GABA-Mediated Neurotransmission'. *Nature*. doi: 10.1038/nature11356.
- Hansen, Michele, Jennifer J. Kurinczuk, Nicholas De Klerk, Peter Burton, and Carol Bower. 2012. 'Assisted Reproductive Technology and Major Birth Defects in Western Australia'. *Obstetrics and Gynecology* 120(4):852–63. doi: 10.1097/AOG.0B013E318269C282.
- Hansen, Peter J. 2014. 'Current and Future Assisted Reproductive Technologies for Mammalian Farm Animals'. Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 752:1–22. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4614-8887-3_1.
- Harris, Muriel J., and Diana M. Juriloff. 2007. 'Mouse Mutants with Neural Tube Closure Defects and Their Role in Understanding Human Neural Tube Defects'. *Birth Defects Research Part A - Clinical and Molecular Teratology* 79(3):187–210. doi: 10.1002/bdra.20333.
- Hart, Roger, and Robert J. Norman. 2013. 'The Longer-Term Health Outcomes for Children Born as a Result of IVF Treatment. Part II--Mental Health and Development Outcomes'. *Human Reproduction Update* 19(3):244–50. doi: 10.1093/HUMUPD/DMT002.
- Haynes, Robin L., Rebecca D. Folkerth, Luke I. Szweda, Joseph J. Volpe, and Hannah C. Kinney. 2006. 'Lipid Peroxidation during Human Cerebral Myelination'. *Journal of Neuropathology and Experimental Neurology* 65(9):894–904. doi: 10.1097/01.JNEN.0000235858.56631.97.
- Holladay, Steven D., and Ralph J. Smialowicz. 2000. 'Development of the Murine and Human Immune System: Differential Effects of Immunotoxicants Depend on Time of Exposure'. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 108 Suppl 3(Suppl 3):463–73. doi: 10.1289/EHP.00108S3463.

- Houston, Suzanne M., Megan M. Herting, and Elizabeth R. Sowell. 2014. 'The Neurobiology of Childhood Structural Brain Development: Conception Through Adulthood'. *Current Topics in Behavioral Neurosciences* 16:3. doi: 10.1007/7854_2013_265.
- Hussain, Ghulam, Jing Wang, Azhar Rasul, Haseeb Anwar, Ali Imran, Muhammad Qasim, Shamaila Zafar, Syed Kashif Shahid Kamran, Aroona Razzaq, Nimra Aziz, Waseem Ahmad, Asghar Shabbir, Javed Iqbal, Shahid Mahmood Baig, and Tao Sun. 2019. 'Role of Cholesterol and Sphingolipids in Brain Development and Neurological Diseases'. *Lipids in Health and Disease* 18(1):1–12. doi: 10.1186/S12944-019-0965-Z/FIGURES/5.
- Inglis, Chandra A., Erin R. Campbell, Stephanie L. Auciello, and Sally R. Sarawar. 2014. 'Effects of Enrichment Devices on Stress-Related Problems in Mouse Breeding'. Animal Welfare Enhancement Reports. Johns Hopkins Center for Alternatives to Animal Testing. Pp. 1-9 (1):1–9.
- Johnson, Mark H. 2001. 'Functional Brain Development in Humans'. Nature Reviews Neuroscience 2001 2:7 2(7):475-83. doi: 10.1038/35081509.
- Kalinichenko, Liubov S., Erich Gulbins, Johannes Kornhuber, and Christian P. Müller. 2022. 'Sphingolipid Control of Cognitive Functions in Health and Disease'. *Progress in Lipid Research* 86:101162. doi: 10.1016/J.PLIPRES.2022.101162.
- Kamowski-Shakibai, Margaret T., Betty Kollia, and Nicole Magaldi. 2017. 'Autism Spectrum Disorders and Communication Disorders: Influences of Advanced Parental Age and Use of Assisted Reproductive Technology'. Advances in Neurodevelopmental Disorders 1(1):21–30. doi: 10.1007/S41252-017-0006-8/METRICS.
- Kandel, Eric R. et al. 2014. Principles of Neural Science. Vol. 10. 6th 2021. McGrowth Hill.
- Kazdoba, Tatiana M., Prescott T. Leach, Mu Yang, Jill L. Silverman, Marjorie Solomon, and Jacqueline N. Crawley. 2012. 'Translational Mouse Models of Autism: Advancing Toward Pharmacological Therapeutics'. *Brain Imaging in Behavioral Neuroscience* (November 2011):289–320. doi: 10.1007/7854.
- Khalaf-Nazzal, R., and F. Francis. 2013. 'Hippocampal Development Old and New Findings'. *Neuroscience* 248:225–42. doi: 10.1016/J.NEUROSCIENCE.2013.05.061.
- Khan, Janine Y., and Stephen M. Black. 2003. 'Developmental Changes in Murine Brain Antioxidant Enzymes'. *Pediatric Research 2003 54:1* 54(1):77–82. doi: 10.1203/01.pdr.0000065736.69214.20.
- Kondapalli, Laxmi A., and Alfredo Perales-Puchalt. 2013. 'Low Birth Weight: Is It Related to Assisted Reproductive Technology or Underlying Infertility?' *Fertility and Sterility* 99(2):303–10. doi: 10.1016/J.FERTNSTERT.2012.12.035.
- Lanté, Fabien, Johann Meunier, Janique Guiramand, Tangui Maurice, Mélanie Cavalier, Marie Céleste de Jesus Ferreira, Rose Aimar, Catherine Cohen-Solal, Michel Vignes, and Gérard Barbanel. 2007. 'Neurodevelopmental Damage after Prenatal Infection: Role of Oxidative Stress in the Fetal Brain'. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 42(8):1231–45. doi: 10.1016/J.FREERADBIOMED.2007.01.027.

- LeDoux, Joseph E. 2003. 'Emotion Circuits in the Brain'. *Https://Doi.Org/10.1146/Annurev.Neuro.23.1.155* 23:155–84. doi: 10.1146/ANNUREV.NEURO.23.1.155.
- Lee, Kyung Hee, Myeounghoon Cha, and Bae Hwan Lee. 2020. 'Neuroprotective Effect of Antioxidants in the Brain'. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 21(19):1–29. doi: 10.3390/IJMS21197152.
- Lee M. Silver. 1995. Mouse Genetics Concepts and Applications. Oxford Uni.
- Legoff, Louis, Ouzna Dali, Elena De La Mata Santaella, Christian Jaulin, Shereen Cynthia D'Cruz, and Fatima Smagulova. 2021. 'Histone Deacetylase Inhibition Leads to Regulatory Histone Mark Alterations and Impairs Meiosis in Oocytes'. *Epigenetics & Chromatin* 14(1). doi: 10.1186/S13072-021-00413-8.
- Lehninger, A. L. 1968. 'The Neuronal Membrane.' Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 60(4):1069–80. doi: 10.1073/PNAS.60.4.1069/ASSET/D7681981-1BB4-4A72-B5AE-E4158951A6CB/ASSETS/PNAS.60.4.1069.FP.PNG.
- Leunissen, RW, T. Stijnen, and AC Hokken-Koelega. 2009. 'Influence of Birth Size on Body Composition in Early Adulthood: The Programming Factors for Growth and Metabolism (PROGRAM)-Study'. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* 70:245–51.
- Li, Guangnan, Li Fang, Gloria Fernández, and Samuel J. Pleasure. 2013. 'The Ventral Hippocampus Is the Embryonic Origin for Adult Neural Stem Cells in the Dentate Gyrus'. *Neuron* 78(4):658–72. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2013.03.019.
- Li, Lei, Liya Wang, Xiangrong Xu, Hangying Lou, Fang Le, Lejun Li, Jiangzhong Sheng, Hefeng Huang, and Fan Jin. 2011. 'Genome-Wide DNA Methylation Patterns in IVF-Conceived Mice and Their Progeny: A Putative Model for ART-Conceived Humans'. *Reproductive Toxicology (Elmsford, N.Y.)* 32(1):98–105. doi: 10.1016/J.REPROTOX.2011.05.016.
- Li, Yanling, Tingting Zhao, Jiaxin Li, Mengyao Xia, Yuling Li, Xiaoyu Wang, Chuanguo Liu, Tingting Zheng, Renjie Chen, Dongfang Kan, Yicheng Xie, Jingjie Song, Yu Feng, Tiangui Yu, and Peng Sun. 2022. 'Oxidative Stress and 4-Hydroxy-2-Nonenal (4-HNE): Implications in the Pathogenesis and Treatment of Aging-Related Diseases'. *Journal of Immunology Research* 2022. doi: 10.1155/2022/2233906.
- Li, Yue, Minjie Shen, Michael E. Stockton, and Xinyu Zhao. 2019. 'Hippocampal Deficits in Neurodevelopmental Disorders'. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory* 165. doi: 10.1016/J.NLM.2018.10.001.
- Liu, Liang, Junwei Gao, Xie He, Yulong Cai, Lian Wang, and Xiaotang Fan. 2017. 'Association between Assisted Reproductive Technology and the Risk of Autism Spectrum Disorders in the Offspring: A Meta-Analysis'. Scientific Reports 2017 7:1 7(1):1–8. doi: 10.1038/srep46207.
- Livak, Kenneth J., and Thomas D. Schmittgen. 2001. 'Analysis of Relative Gene Expression Data Using Real-Time Quantitative PCR and the 2-ΔΔCT Method'. *Methods* 25(4):402-8. doi: 10.1006/METH.2001.1262.

- Lo, Liching, Shenqin Yao, Dong Wook Kim, Ali Cetin, Julie Harris, Hongkui Zeng, David J. Anderson, and Brandon Weissbourd. 2019. 'Connectional Architecture of a Mouse Hypothalamic Circuit Node Controlling Social Behavior'. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 116(15):7503–12. doi: 10.1073/PNAS.1817503116/SUPPL_FILE/PNAS.1817503116.SAPP.PDF.
- Lyall, Kristen, Alice Baker, Irva Hertz-Picciotto, and Cheryl K. Walker. 2013. 'Infertility and Its Treatments in Association with Autism Spectrum Disorders: A Review and Results from the CHARGE Study.' *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 10(8):3715–34. doi: 10.3390/ijerph10083715.
- Maheshwari, Abha, Shilpi Pandey, Ashalatha Shetty, Mark Hamilton, and Siladitya Bhattacharya. 2012. 'Obstetric and Perinatal Outcomes in Singleton Pregnancies Resulting from the Transfer of Frozen Thawed versus Fresh Embryos Generated through in Vitro Fertilization Treatment: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis'. *Fertility and Sterility* 98(2). doi: 10.1016/J.FERTNSTERT.2012.05.019.
- Malenka, Robert C., and Mark F. Bear. 2004. 'LTP and LTD: An Embarrassment of Riches'. *Neuron* 44(1):5–21. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2004.09.012.
- Mani, Sneha, Jayashri Ghosh, Christos Coutifaris, Carmen Sapienza, and Monica Mainigi. 2020. 'Epigenetic Changes and Assisted Reproductive Technologies'. *Epigenetics* 15(1– 2):12. doi: 10.1080/15592294.2019.1646572.
- Martínez-Morga, Marta, M. Paz Quesada-Rico, Carlos Bueno, and Salvador Martínez Pérez. 2018. '[Neurobiological Bases of Autistic Spectrum Disorder and Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder: Neural Differentiation and Synaptogenesis].' *Revista de Neurologia* 66(S01):S97–102.
- Mauch, D. H., K. Nägier, S. Schumacher, C. Göritz, E. C. Müller, A. Otto, and F. W. Pfrieger. 2001. 'CNS Synaptogenesis Promoted by Glia-Derived Cholesterol'. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 294(5545):1354–57. doi: 10.1126/SCIENCE.294.5545.1354.
- McDonald, Sarah D., Zhen Han, Sohail Mulla, Arne Ohlsson, Joseph Beyene, and Kellie E. Murphy. 2010. 'Preterm Birth and Low Birth Weight among in Vitro Fertilization Twins: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analyses'. *European Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology and Reproductive Biology* 148(2):105–13. doi: 10.1016/J.EJOGRB.2009.09.019.
- McFarlane, H. G., G. K. Kusek, M. Yang, J. L. Phoenix, V. J. Bolivar, and J. N. Crawley. 2008. 'Autism-like Behavioral Phenotypes in BTBR T+tf/J Mice'. *Genes, Brain and Behavior* 7(2):152–63. doi: 10.1111/J.1601-183X.2007.00330.X.
- Messerlian, Carmen, Laura MacLagan, and Olga Basso. 2013. 'Infertility and the Risk of Adverse Pregnancy Outcomes: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis'. *Human Reproduction* 28(1):125–37. doi: 10.1093/humrep/des347.
- Mihalas, Bettina P., Elizabeth G. Bromfield, Jessie M. Sutherland, Geoffry N. De Iuliis, Eileen A. McLaughlin, R. John Aitken, and Brett Nixon. 2018. 'Oxidative Damage in Naturally Aged Mouse Oocytes Is Exacerbated by Dysregulation of Proteasomal Activity'. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 293(49):18944–64. doi: 10.1074/JBC.RA118.005751.

- Mihalas, Bettina P., Geoffry N. De Iuliis, Kate A. Redgrove, Eileen A. McLaughlin, and Brett Nixon. 2017. 'The Lipid Peroxidation Product 4-Hydroxynonenal Contributes to Oxidative Stress-Mediated Deterioration of the Ageing Oocyte'. *Scientific Reports 2017* 7:1 7(1):1–18. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-06372-z.
- Mochida, Ganeshwaran H. 2009. 'Genetics and Biology of Microcephaly and Lissencephaly'. *Seminars in Pediatric Neurology* 16(3):120–26. doi: 10.1016/j.spen.2009.07.001.
- Montesinos, Jorge, Cristina Guardia-Laguarta, and Estela Area-Gomez. 2020. 'The Fat Brain'. *Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition and Metabolic Care* 23(2):68–75. doi: 10.1097/MCO.0000000000634.
- Moy, S. S., J. J. Nadler, A. Perez, R. P. Barbaro, J. M. Johns, T. R. Magnuson, J. Piven, and J. N. Crawley. 2004. 'Sociability and Preference for Social Novelty in Five Inbred Strains: An Approach to Assess Autistic-like Behavior in Mice'. *Genes, Brain, and Behavior* 3(5):287–302. doi: 10.1111/J.1601-1848.2004.00076.X.
- Moy, Sheryl S., Jessica J. Nadler, Nancy B. Young, Antonio Perez, L. Paige Holloway, Ryan P. Barbaro, Justin R. Barbaro, Lindsay M. Wilson, David W. Threadgill, Jean M. Lauder, Terry R. Magnuson, and Jacqueline N. Crawley. 2007. 'Mouse Behavioral Tasks Relevant to Autism: Phenotypes of 10 Inbred Strains'. *Behavioural Brain Research* 176(1):4–20. doi: 10.1016/J.BBR.2006.07.030.
- Mulder, E. J. H., P. G. Robles De Medina, A. C. Huizink, B. R. H. Van Den Bergh, J. K. Buitelaar, and G. H. A. Visser. 2002. 'Prenatal Maternal Stress: Effects on Pregnancy and the (Unborn) Child'. *Early Human Development* 70(1–2):3–14. doi: 10.1016/S0378-3782(02)00075-0.
- Musson, Richard, Łukasz Gasior, Simona Bisogno, and Grażyna Ewa Ptak. 2022. 'DNA Damage in Preimplantation Embryos and Gametes: Specification, Clinical Relevance and Repair Strategies'. *Human Reproduction Update* 28(3):376–99. doi: 10.1093/HUMUPD/DMAB046.
- Nagashima, H., N. Kashiwazaki, R. J. Ashman, C. G. Grupen, and M. B. Nottle. 1995. 'Cryopreservation of Porcine Embryos'. *Nature 1995 374:6521* 374(6521):416–416. doi: 10.1038/374416a0.
- Nagy, A., Gertsenstein, M., Behringer, R. R., & Vintersten, K. 2003. 'Manipulating the Mouse Embryo: A Laboratory Manual.' NY: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press. 4(517):137– 46.
- Niederberger, Craig, Antonio Pellicer, Jacques Cohen, David K. Gardner, Gianpiero D. Palermo, Claire L. O'Neill, Stephen Chow, Zev Rosenwaks, Ana Cobo, Jason E. Swain, William B. Schoolcraft, René Frydman, Lauren A. Bishop, Davora Aharon, Catherine Gordon, Erika New, Alan Decherney, Seang Lin Tan, Richard J. Paulson, James M. Goldfarb, Mats Brännström, Jacques Donnez, Sherman Silber, Marie Madeleine Dolmans, Joe Leigh Simpson, Alan H. Handyside, Santiago Munné, Cristina Eguizabal, Nuria Montserrat, Juan Carlos Izpisua Belmonte, Alan Trounson, Carlos Simon, Togas Tulandi, Linda C. Giudice, Robert J. Norman, Aaron J. Hsueh, Yingpu Sun, Neri Laufer, Ronit Kochman, Talia Eldar-Geva, Bruno Lunenfeld, Diego Ezcurra, Thomas D'Hooghe, Bart C. J. M. Fauser, Basil C. Tarlatzis, David R. Meldrum, Robert F. Casper, Human M.

Fatemi, Paul Devroey, Daniela Galliano, Matts Wikland, Mark Sigman, Richard A. Schoor, Marc Goldstein, Larry I. Lipshultz, Peter N. Schlegel, Alayman Hussein, Robert D. Oates, Robert E. Brannigan, Heather E. Ross, Guido Pennings, Susan C. Klock, Simon Brown, André Van Steirteghem, Robert W. Rebar, and Andrew R. LaBarbera. 2018. 'Forty Years of IVF'. *Fertility and Sterility* 110(2):185-324.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2018.06.005.

- Olsen, Anne S. B., and Nils J. Færgeman. 2017. 'Sphingolipids: Membrane Microdomains in Brain Development, Function and Neurological Diseases'. Open Biology 7(5). doi: 10.1098/RSOB.170069.
- Olson, Christine K., Kim M. Keppler-Noreuil, Paul A. Romitti, William T. Budelier, Ginny Ryan, Amy E. T. Sparks, and Bradley J. Van Voorhis. 2005. 'In Vitro Fertilization Is Associated with an Increase in Major Birth Defects'. *Fertility and Sterility* 84(5):1308– 15. doi: 10.1016/J.FERTNSTERT.2005.03.086.
- Patki, Gaurav, Naimesh Solanki, Fatin Atrooz, Farida Allam, and Samina Salim. 2013. 'Depression, Anxiety-like Behavior and Memory Impairment Are Associated with Increased Oxidative Stress and Inflammation in a Rat Model of Social Stress'. *Brain Research* 1539:73–86. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2013.09.033.
- Poitelon, Yannick, Ashley M. Kopec, and Sophie Belin. 2020. 'Myelin Fat Facts: An Overview of Lipids and Fatty Acid Metabolism'. *Cells* 9(4). doi: 10.3390/CELLS9040812.
- Puchkov, Dmytro, and Volker Haucke. 2013. 'Greasing the Synaptic Vesicle Cycle by Membrane Lipids'. *Trends in Cell Biology* 23(10):493–503. doi: 10.1016/J.TCB.2013.05.002.
- Qin, Ning Xin, Yi Ran Zhao, Wei Hui Shi, Zhi Yang Zhou, Ke Xin Zou, Chuan Jin Yu, Xia Liu, Ze Han Dong, Yi Ting Mao, Cheng Liang Zhou, Jia Le Yu, Xin Mei Liu, Jian Zhong Sheng, Guo Lian Ding, Wen Long Zhao, Yan Ting Wu, and He Feng Huang. 2021a. 'Anxiety and Depression-like Behaviours Are More Frequent in Aged Male Mice Conceived by ART Compared with Natural Conception'. *Reproduction (Cambridge, England)* 162(6):437. doi: 10.1530/REP-21-0175.
- Qin, Ning Xin, Yi Ran Zhao, Wei Hui Shi, Zhi Yang Zhou, Ke Xin Zou, Chuan Jin Yu, Xia Liu, Ze Han Dong, Yi Ting Mao, Cheng Liang Zhou, Jia Le Yu, Xin Mei Liu, Jian Zhong Sheng, Guo Lian Ding, Wen Long Zhao, Yan Ting Wu, and He Feng Huang. 2021b. 'Anxiety and Depression-like Behaviours Are More Frequent in Aged Male Mice Conceived by ART Compared with Natural Conception'. *Reproduction (Cambridge, England)* 162(6):437. doi: 10.1530/REP-21-0175.
- Rammal, Hassan, Jaouad Bouayed, Chafique Younos, and Rachid Soulimani. 2008. 'Evidence That Oxidative Stress Is Linked to Anxiety-Related Behaviour in Mice'. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity* 22(8):1156–59. doi: 10.1016/J.BBI.2008.06.005.
- Reimand, Jüri, Meelis Kull, Hedi Peterson, Jaanus Hansen, and Jaak Vilo. 2007. 'G:Profiler a Web-Based Toolset for Functional Profiling of Gene Lists from Large-Scale Experiments'. *Nucleic Acids Research* 35(Web Server issue):W193. doi: 10.1093/NAR/GKM226.

- Rein, Benjamin, Kaijie Ma, and Zhen Yan. 2020. 'A Standardized Social Preference Protocol for Measuring Social Deficits in Mouse Models of Autism'. *Nature Protocols 2020 15:10* 15(10):3464–77. doi: 10.1038/s41596-020-0382-9.
- Rönö, Kristiina, Essi Rissanen, Christina Bergh, Ulla Britt Wennerholm, Signe Opdahl, Liv Bente Romundstad, Anna Karina Aaris Henningsen, Anne Lærke Spangmose, Anja Pinborg, Mika Gissler, and Aila Tiitinen. 2022. 'The Neurodevelopmental Morbidity of Children Born after Assisted Reproductive Technology: A Nordic Register Study from the Committee of Nordic Assisted Reproductive Technology and Safety Group'. *Fertility and Sterility* 117(5):1026–37. doi: 10.1016/J.FERTNSTERT.2022.01.010.
- Rose, S., S. Melnyk, O. Pavliv, S. Bai, T. G. Nick, R. E. Frye, and S. J. James. 2012. 'Evidence of Oxidative Damage and Inflammation Associated with Low Glutathione Redox Status in the Autism Brain'. *Translational Psychiatry* 2(7). doi: 10.1038/TP.2012.61.
- Rosenthal, Nadia, and Steve Brown. 2007. 'The Mouse Ascending: Perspectives for Human-Disease Models'. *Nature Cell Biology* 9(9):993–99. doi: 10.1038/NCB437.
- Rossignol, Daniel A., and Richard E. Frye. 2014. 'Evidence Linking Oxidative Stress, Mitochondrial Dysfunction, and Inflammation in the Brain of Individuals with Autism'. *Frontiers in Physiology* 5 APR(April):1–15. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2014.00150.
- Sagvolden, T., and J. A. Sergeant. 1998. 'Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder From Brain Dysfunctions to Behaviour'. *Behavioural Brain Research* 94(1):1–10. doi: 10.1016/S0166-4328(97)00164-2.
- Sampino, S., F. Zacchini, A. H. Swiergiel, A. J. Modlinski, P. Loi, and G. E. Ptak. 2014. 'Effects of Blastomere Biopsy on Post-Natal Growth and Behavior in Mice'. *Human Reproduction* 29(9):1875–83. doi: 10.1093/HUMREP/DEU145.
- Saré, Rachel Michelle, Abigail Lemons, and Carolyn Beebe Smith. 2021. 'Behavior Testing in Rodents: Highlighting Potential Confounds Affecting Variability and Reproducibility'. *Brain Sciences* 11(4). doi: 10.3390/BRAINSCI11040522.
- Semkova, Vesselina, Simone Haupt, Michaela Segschneider, Catherine Bell, Magnus Ingelman-Sundberg, Mohamad Hajo, Beatrice Weykopf, Pathma Muthukottiappan, Andreas Till, and Oliver Brüstle. 2022. 'Dynamics of Metabolic Pathways and Stress Response Patterns during Human Neural Stem Cell Proliferation and Differentiation'. *Cells* 11(9):1388. doi: 10.3390/CELLS11091388/S1.
- Shahid, Zainab, Edinen Asuka, and Gurdeep Singh. 2022. 'Physiology, Hypothalamus'. StatPearls.
- Shichiri, Mototada. 2014. 'The Role of Lipid Peroxidation in Neurological Disorders'. *Journal of Clinical Biochemistry and Nutrition* 54(3):151. doi: 10.3164/JCBN.14-10.
- Shimogori, Tomomi, Daniel A. Lee, Ana Miranda-Angulo, Yanqin Yang, Hong Wang, Lizhi Jiang, Aya C. Yoshida, Ayane Kataoka, Hiromi Mashiko, Marina Avetisyan, Lixin Qi, Jiang Qian, and Seth Blackshaw. 2010. 'A Genomic Atlas of Mouse Hypothalamic Development'. *Nature Neuroscience* 13(6):767–75. doi: 10.1038/NN.2545.

- Silverman, Jill L., Mu Yang, Catherine Lord, and Jacqueline N. Crawley. 2010. 'Behavioural Phenotyping Assays for Mouse Models of Autism'. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* 11(7):490–502.
- Smith, Karen E., and Seth D. Pollak. 2020. 'Early Life Stress and Development: Potential Mechanisms for Adverse Outcomes'. *Journal of Neurodevelopmental Disorders 2020* 12:1 12(1):1–15. doi: 10.1186/S11689-020-09337-Y.
- Squire, Larry R. 1992. 'Memory and the Hippocampus: A Synthesis from Findings with Rats, Monkeys, and Humans'. *Psychological Review* 99(2):195–231. doi: 10.1037/0033-295X.99.2.195.
- van Steensel, Francisca J. A., Susan M. Bögels, and Sean Perrin. 2011. 'Anxiety Disorders in Children and Adolescents with Autistic Spectrum Disorders: A Meta-Analysis'. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review* 14(3):302–17. doi: 10.1007/S10567-011-0097-0/TABLES/4.
- Steptoe, P. C., and R. G. Edwards. 1978. 'Birth after the Reimplantation of a Human Embryo'. *Lancet* 2(8085):366. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(78)92957-4.
- Stettler, N., and V. Iotova. 2010. 'Early Growth Patterns and Long-Term Obesity Risk'. *Curr* Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 13:294–99.
- Strömberg, B., G. Dahlquist, A. Ericson, O. Finnström, M. Köster, and K. Stjernqvist. 2002. 'Neurological Sequelae in Children Born after In-Vitro Fertilisation: A Population-Based Study'. *Lancet* 359(9305):461–65. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(02)07674-2.
- Sun, Yuan, Na Hu, Mingqi Wang, Lu Lu, Chunyan Luo, Biqiu Tang, Chenyang Yao, John A. Sweeney, Qiyong Gong, Changjian Qiu, and Su Lui. 2023. 'Hippocampal Subfield Alterations in Schizophrenia and Major Depressive Disorder: A Systematic Review and Network Meta-Analysis of Anatomic MRI Studies'. *Journal of Psychiatry and Neuroscience* 48(1):E34–49. doi: 10.1503/JPN.220086/TAB-RELATED-CONTENT.
- Sutcliffe, Alastair G., Mitana Purkayastha, Daniel R. Brison, Scott M. Nelson, Stephen A. Roberts, and Deborah A. Lawlor. 2023. 'General Health in a Cohort of Children Conceived after Assisted Reproductive Technology in the United Kingdom: A Population-Based Record-Linkage Study'. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology 228(1):82.e1-82.e17. doi: 10.1016/J.AJOG.2022.07.032.
- Swanson, Larry W. 2011. 'Brain Architecture: Understanding the Basic Plan'. Brain Architecture. doi: 10.1093/MED/9780195378580.001.0001.
- Talamonti, Emanuela, Valeria Sasso, Hoi To, Richard P. Haslam, Johnathan A. Napier, Brun Ulfhake, Karin Pernold, Abolfazl Asadi, Tara Hessa, Anders Jacobsson, Valerio Chiurchiù, and Maria Teresa Viscomi. 2020. 'Impairment of DHA Synthesis Alters the Expression of Neuronal Plasticity Markers and the Brain Inflammatory Status in Mice'. *The FASEB Journal* 34(2):2024. doi: 10.1096/FJ.201901890RR.
- Tyanova, Stefka, Tikira Temu, Pavel Sinitcyn, Arthur Carlson, Marco Y. Hein, Tamar Geiger, Matthias Mann, and Jürgen Cox. 2016. 'The Perseus Computational Platform for Comprehensive Analysis of (Prote)Omics Data'. *Nature Methods* 13(9):731–40. doi: 10.1038/NMETH.3901.

- Wager-Miller, Jim, Michelle Murphy Green, Hana Shafique, and Ken Mackie. 2020. 'Collection of Frozen Rodent Brain Regions for Downstream Analyses'. *JoVE (Journal of Visualized Experiments)* 2020(158):e60474. doi: 10.3791/60474.
- Wang, Meiyan, Pei Chi Wei, Christina K. Lim, Iryna S. Gallina, Sara Marshall, Maria C. Marchetto, Frederick W. Alt, and Fred H. Gage. 2020. 'Increased Neural Progenitor Proliferation in a HiPSC Model of Autism Induces Replication Stress-Associated Genome Instability'. *Cell Stem Cell* 26(2):221-233.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2019.12.013.
- Wang, Pin, Keqin Xie, Cunfu Wang, and Jianzhong Bi. 2014. 'Oxidative Stress Induced by Lipid Peroxidation Is Related with Inflammation of Demyelination and Neurodegeneration in Multiple Sclerosis'. *European Neurology* 72(3–4):249–54. doi: 10.1159/000363515.
- Watanabe, Satoshi, Tohru Kurotani, Tomofumi Oga, Jun Noguchi, Risa Isoda, Akiko Nakagami, Kazuhisa Sakai, Keiko Nakagaki, Kayo Sumida, Kohei Hoshino, Koichi Saito, Izuru Miyawaki, Masayuki Sekiguchi, Keiji Wada, Takafumi Minamimoto, and Noritaka Ichinohe. 2021. 'Functional and Molecular Characterization of a Non-Human Primate Model of Autism Spectrum Disorder Shows Similarity with the Human Disease'. *Nature Communications 2021 12:1* 12(1):1–13. doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-25487-6.
- Wei, Yanchang, Cai Rong Yang, Yan Ping Wei, Zhen Ao Zhao, Yi Hou, Heide Schatten, and Qing Yuan Sun. 2014. 'Paternally Induced Transgenerational Inheritance of Susceptibility to Diabetes in Mammals'. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 111(5):1873–78. doi: 10.1073/PNAS.1321195111/SUPPL_FILE/SD05.XLS.
- Wentz, Elisabet, Anna Björk, and Jovanna Dahlgren. 2017. 'Neurodevelopmental Disorders Are Highly Over-Represented in Children with Obesity: A Cross-Sectional Study'. *Obesity* 25(1):178–84. doi: 10.1002/OBY.21693.
- Wise, Lauren A., Ellen M. Mikkelsen, Henrik Toft Sørensen, Kenneth J. Rothman, Kristen A. Hahn, Anders H. Riis, and Elizabeth E. Hatch. 2015. 'A Prospective Study of Time-to-Pregnancy and Adverse Birth Outcomes'. *Fertility and Sterility* 103(4):1065. doi: 10.1016/J.FERTNSTERT.2015.01.024.
- Wójtowicz, Sylwia, Anna K. Strosznajder, Mieszko Jeżyna, and Joanna B. Strosznajder. 2020. 'The Novel Role of PPAR Alpha in the Brain: Promising Target in Therapy of Alzheimer's Disease and Other Neurodegenerative Disorders'. *Neurochemical Research* 45(5):972–88. doi: 10.1007/S11064-020-02993-5.
- Yenkoyan, Konstantin, Artem Grigoryan, Katarine Fereshetyan, and Diana Yepremyan. 2017.
 'Advances in Understanding the Pathophysiology of Autism Spectrum Disorders'. Behavioural Brain Research 331:92–101. doi: 10.1016/J.BBR.2017.04.038.
- Young, Lorraine E., Kevin D. Sinclair, and Ian Wilmut. 1998. 'Large Offspring Syndrome in Cattle and Sheep'. *Reviews of Reproduction* 3(3):155–63. doi: 10.1530/ROR.0.0030155.